See discussions, stats, and author profiles for this publication at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/312551972

Soil Carbon 4 per mille

Article *in* Geoderma · April 2017 DOI: 10.1016/j.geoderma.2017.01.002

CITATIONS		READS	
1,675		7,442	
34 autho	ors, including:		
58	Budiman Minasny	(act)	Alex B Mcbratney
	The University of Sydney		The University of Sydney
	676 PUBLICATIONS 36,521 CITATIONS		776 PUBLICATIONS 56,251 CITATIONS
	SEE PROFILE		SEE PROFILE
6	Denis Angers		Dominique Arrouays
	Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada	2.5	French National Institute for Agriculture, Food, and Environment (INRAE)
	310 PUBLICATIONS 28,550 CITATIONS		630 PUBLICATIONS 20,581 CITATIONS
	SEE PROFILE		SEE PROFILE

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Geoderma

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/geoderma

Soil carbon 4 per mille



FODERM

Budiman Minasny ^{a,*}, Brendan P. Malone ^a, Alex B. McBratney ^a, Denis A. Angers ^b, Dominique Arrouays ^c, Adam Chambers ^d, Vincent Chaplot ^e, Zueng-Sang Chen ^f, Kun Cheng ^g, Bhabani S. Das ^h, Damien J. Field ^a, Alessandro Gimona ⁱ, Carolyn B. Hedley ^j, Suk Young Hong ^k, Biswapati Mandal ¹, Ben P. Marchant ^m, Manuel Martin ^c, Brian G. McConkey ^b, Vera Leatitia Mulder ⁿ, Sharon O'Rourke ^o, Anne C. Richer-de-Forges ^c, Inakwu Odeh ^a, José Padarian ^a, Keith Paustian ^p, Genxing Pan ^g, Laura Poggio ⁱ, Igor Savin ^q, Vladimir Stolbovoy ^r, Uta Stockmann ^a, Yiyi Sulaeman ^s, Chun-Chih Tsui ^f, Tor-Gunnar Vågen ^t, Bas van Wesemael ^u, Leigh Winowiecki ^t

^a Sydney Institute of Agriculture, The University of Sydney, New South Wales, Australia

^b Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, Québec and Swift Current Research and Development Centres, Canada

^c INRA Orléans, InfoSol Unit, Orléans, France

^d USDA-Natural Resources Conservation Service, West National Technology Support Center, 1201 NE Lloyd Blvd., Suite 801, Portland, OR 97232-1202, USA

e Laboratoire d'Océanographie et du Climat: Expérimentations et approches numériques (LOCEAN), IPSL, UMR 7159, IRD/CNRS/UPMC/MNHN, 4, place Jussieu, 75252 Paris, France

^f Department of Agricultural Chemistry, National Taiwan University, Taipei, China Taiwan

^g Institute of Resource, Ecosystem and Environment of Agriculture, Nanjing Agricultural University, Nanjing 210095, China

h Agricultural & Food Engineering Department, Indian Institute of Technology Kharagpur, India

ⁱ The James Hutton Institute, Craigiebuckler, AB15 8QH, Aberdeen, Scotland (UK)

^j Landcare Research – Manaaki Whenua, New Zealand

^k National Institute of Agricultural Science, Rural Development Administration (RDA), Wanju-gun Jeollabuk-do 55365, Republic of Korea

¹ Bidhan Chandra Krishi Viswavidyalaya, West Bengal, India

^m British Geological Survey, Keyworth, UK

ⁿ Soil Geography and Landscape Group, Wageningen University, Droevendaalsesteeg 3, P.O. Box 47, 6700 AA, Wageningen, The Netherlands

° University College Dublin, School Of Biosystems & Food Engineering, Agriculture and Food Science Centre, Belfield, Dublin, Ireland

^p Department of Soil and Crop Sciences, and Natural Resource Ecology Lab, Colorado State University, Fort Collins, CO 80523, USA

^q People's Friendship University of Russia, Moscow, Russia

^r V.V. Dokuchaev Soil Science Institute, Moscow, Russia

^s Indonesian Agency for Agricultural Research and Development, Indonesian Ministry of Agriculture, Bogor, Indonesia

^t World Agroforestry Centre (ICRAF), Nairobi, Kenya

^u Université catholique de Louvain (UCL), Georges Lemaître Centre for Earth and Climate Research, Louvain-la-Neuve, Belgium

A R T I C L E I N F O

Article history: Received 1 August 2016 Received in revised form 2 December 2016 Accepted 3 January 2017 Available online xxxx

Keywords: Soil carbon Climate change Greenhouse gases Soil carbon sequestration

ABSTRACT

The '4 per mille Soils for Food Security and Climate' was launched at the COP21 with an aspiration to increase global soil organic matter stocks by 4 per 1000 (or 0.4 %) per year as a compensation for the global emissions of greenhouse gases by anthropogenic sources. This paper surveyed the soil organic carbon (SOC) stock estimates and sequestration potentials from 20 regions in the world (New Zealand, Chile, South Africa, Australia, Tanzania, Indonesia, Kenya, Nigeria, India, China Taiwan, South Korea, China Mainland, United States of America, France, Canada, Belgium, England & Wales, Ireland, Scotland, and Russia). We asked whether the 4 per mille initiative is feasible for the region. The outcomes highlight region specific efforts and scopes for soil carbon sequestration. Reported soil C sequestration rates globally show that under best management practices, 4 per mille or even higher sequestration rates can be accomplished. High C sequestration rates (up to 10 per mille) can be achieved for soils with low initial SOC stock (topsoil less than 30 t C ha⁻¹), and at the first twenty years after implementation of best management practices. In addition, areas which have reached equilibrium will not be able to further increase their sequestration. We found that most studies on SOC sequestration only consider topsoil (up to 0.3 m depth), as it is considered to be most affected by management techniques. The 4 per mille number was based on a blanket calculation of the whole global soil profile C stock, however the potential to increase SOC is mostly on managed agricultural lands. If we consider 4 per mille in the top 1m of global agricultural soils, SOC sequestration is between 2-3 Gt C year⁻¹, which effectively offset 20–35% of global anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions. As a strategy for climate change mitigation, soil carbon sequestration buys time over the next ten to twenty years while other effective sequestration and low carbon technologies become viable. The challenge for cropping

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: budiman.minasny@sydney.edu.au (B. Minasny).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2017.01.002

0016-7061/© 2017 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).



farmers is to find disruptive technologies that will further improve soil condition and deliver increased soil carbon. Progress in 4 per mille requires collaboration and communication between scientists, farmers, policy makers, and marketeers.

© 2017 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND licenses (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

1	Introduction							
1. ว	Decie							
Ζ.								
	2.1.							
	2.2							
	2.2.	Chie						
		Jose Padanan.						
	2.3.	South Africa						
		Vincent Chaplot						
	2.4.	Australia						
		Uta Stockmann, Brendan Malone, Damien Field, Alex. McBratney						
	2.5.	Tanzania						
		Leigh Winowiecki and Tor-Gunnar Vågen						
	2.6.	Indonesia						
		Yiyi Sulaeman and Budiman Minasny						
	2.7.	Kenva						
		Tor-G. Vågen and Leigh Winowiecki 69						
	28							
	2.0.	Inglenii (Jack 1997) (1						
	2.0	natwu duch						
	2.9.	Inula						
	2.10							
	2.10.	Ialwan China						
		Chun-Chih Isui and Zueng-Sang Chen						
	2.11.	South Korea						
		Suk Young Hong						
	2.12.	China Mainland						
		Kun Cheng and Genxing Pan. 73						
	2.13.	United States of America						
		Keith Paustian and Adam Chambers						
	2.14.	France						
		Dominique Arrouays, Manuel Martin, Anne C. Richer-de-Forges, and Vera Leatitia Mulder						
	2.15.	Belgium						
	21101	Bas van Wesemael 74						
	2 16	Final and Wales 75						
	2.10.	Ran Marchant 75						
	2 1 7	Jeli Matchalit						
	2.17.	IIEIAIIU						
	2.40	Sharon O Kourke						
	2.18.	Scotland						
		Laura Poggio and Alessandro Gimona						
	2.19.	Canada						
		Denis A. Angers and Brian G. McConkey. 76						
	2.20.	Russia						
		Igor Savin and Vladimir Stolbovoy						
3.	Discus	ssion						
	3.1.	Not all lands can sequester carbon						
	3.2.	Management strategies						
	3.3.	Time						
	34	Critical limit & Capacity 80						
	3.5	Parcity of data 80						
	3.5.	Implementation 01						
	3.0. 3.7	niperintination 01						
4	J./.							
4.	COLICI	usions						
ACKE	iowled							
Refe	References							

1. Introduction

The COP21 or 21st Conference of the Parties to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change in Paris (November 30 to December 11, 2015) produced the Paris Climate Agreement. This is a global agreement on the reduction of climate change, limiting global warming to less than 2 Celsius degrees (C°) compared to pre-industrial levels and to pursue efforts to limit the increase to 1.5 C° . In order to

keep warming below 2 C°, we need to limit our annual greenhouse gas emission with an estimate of 9.8 Gt (9.8×10^{15} g) C at a 64% probability (Meinshausen et al., 2009). The Paris Agreement has been entered into force on 4 November 2016. As of November 2016, there have been 192 signatories and 114 of those parties have ratified the Agreement.

At COP21, the French Minister of Agriculture Stéphane Le Foll set an ambitious international research program, the '4 per mille Soils for Food Security and Climate' of the Lima-Paris Action Agenda. The 4 per mille or 4 per 1000 aspires to increase global soil organic matter stocks by 0.4 percent per year as a compensation for the global emissions of greenhouse gases by anthropogenic sources. It was launched during COP21 in December 2015 and supported by almost 150 signatories (countries, regions, international agencies, private sectors and NGOS). Stakeholders commit in a voluntary action plan to implement farming practices that maintain or enhance soil carbon stocks in agricultural soils and to preserve carbon-rich soils (Chambers et al., 2016; Lal, 2016).

Soil organic carbon (SOC) sequestration has been considered as a possible solution to mitigate climate change, to take atmospheric CO_2 and convert it into soil carbon which is long-lived. As soil stores two to three times more carbon than the atmosphere, a relatively small increase in the stocks could exert a significant role in mitigating greenhouse gases emissions. The annual greenhouse gas emissions from fossil carbon are estimated at 8.9 giga tonnes C (8.9×10^{15} g), and a global estimate of soil C stock to 2 m of soil depth of 2400 giga tonnes (2400×10^{15} g) (Batjes, 1996). Taking the ratio of global anthropogenic C emissions and the total SOC stock (8.9/2400), results in the value of 0.4% or 4‰ (4 per mille) (Fig. 1). Increasing SOC has been proposed to mitigate climate change with an additional benefit of improving soil structure and conditions (Lal, 2016).

If we take the land area of the world as 149 million km², it would be estimated that on average there are 161 tonnes of SOC per hectare. So 4 per mille of this equates to an average sequestration rate to offset emissions at 0.6 tonnes of C per hectare per year. This 4 per mille blanket value cannot be applied everywhere as soil varies widely in terms of C storage, which includes desert, peatlands, mountains, etc. Soil types, aboveground vegetation, climate, and how quickly the soil biota uses the carbon collectively impact C storage (Fig. 2). Nevertheless, studies across the globe have measured SOC sequestration rates and they suggest that an annual rate of 0.2 to 0.5 tonnes C per hectare is possible (Table 1), after the adoption of best management practices such as reduced tillage in combination with legume cover crops. There are reports on SOC increase in some parts of the world due to improved management (e.g. Chen et al., 2015), however a study on the global C stock in the world showed that some cropland areas have contents that are below critical limits (Stockmann et al., 2015). The best strategy is to restore the SOC content in these degraded areas, as it offsets greenhouse gas emissions and provides benefits of enhanced soil conditions.

This paper brings together a survey of SOC experiences from 20 regions of the world. We reviewed the SOC stock estimates of each region and asked whether the 4 per mille initiative is feasible. As a convention in this paper, C unit mass is expressed in tonne (t, 10^6 g), and the unit area in hectare (ha, 10^4 m²). C stock is expressed in Mt (equivalent to Tg or 10^{12} g) or Gt (equivalent to billion tonne, 10^3 Mt, Pg or 10^{15} g), sequestration rate is expressed in tonne C per hectare per year (1 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ is equivalent to 0.1 kg C m⁻² year⁻¹) to a specified depth.

2. Regional case studies

The following case studies are arranged from south to north in the order of the region's centroid latitude. The maps of soil carbon stocks (0-0.3 m) are in t C ha⁻¹, projected in the Mercator projection system (Figs. 2-12).

2.1. New Zealand

Carolyn Hedley

The estimated mean SOC stocks in New Zealand are 98.7 t C ha⁻¹ to a depth of 0.3 m (Fig. 3). To meet the 0.4% initiative, New Zealand will require a SOC sequestration rate of approximately 0.4 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹.

The New Zealand Ministry for the Environment (MfE) established the Soil Carbon Monitoring System (Soil CMS) for annual reporting on the land use, land-use change, and forestry (LULUCF) sector in the national greenhouse gas inventory, submitted to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC). This system provides evidence for larger SOC stocks in long-term pastoral soils compared with established forest land (New Zealand Ministry for the Environment, 2015). Therefore, land use change from forest to pasture sequesters soil carbon over a period of decades. However, there are limited opportunities to convert more forest land to pasture, and this conversion would need to account for the loss of biomass C, making this option less favourable.

Current challenges are to maintain or enhance already high levels of SOC stocks in New Zealand's productive grazed pastoral soils, as well as find other practical ways to sequester C into soil. The peaty soils associated with our vegetated wetland areas have the largest SOC stock at an estimated 136.06 t C ha⁻¹. However, when drained for productive use they rapidly lose SOC through oxidation of the organic matter, estimated at a rate of 2.94 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ (Campbell et al., 2015). Thus establishing or restoring wetlands can contribute to SOC accumulation. These



Fig. 1. The 4 per 1000 soil carbon sequestration initiative (adapted from Ademe, 2015).



Fig. 2. Soil C stocks of the world's topsoil (0-0.3 m) in tonne C per hectare. The map was generated based on global datasets of C stock from the study of Stockmann et al. (2015).

wetlands could be established in areas otherwise unsuitable for productive agriculture, e.g. high country and floodable areas.

Work undertaken to assess erosion impacts on SOC for LULUCF reporting found that landslides cause a significant net decline in soil C stocks, with eroded sites only recovering to 70-80% of original levels. However, rates of soil carbon accumulation in recent erosion scars have been measured at 1-3 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ for the first 10 years, and 0.4–1.1 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ over a 70-year period (Lambert et al., 1984; De Rose, 2013; Basher et al., 2011). These studies provide useful data on potential rates of SOC sequestration when degraded land rehabilitates to pastoral land use.

SOC stock-change trajectories in long-term managed grasslands have been investigated by resampling some flat pastoral sites previously sampled about 30 years earlier, and the study reported small SOC stock losses at these selected sites (n = 125; Table 1). However, a study by Parfitt et al. (2014), using a different subset of flat pastoral sites as part of a regional soil quality monitoring program, reported increasing SOC, with change rates between 0.32 ± 0.19 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ and 0.57 ± 0.31 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹, for dairy and dry stock flat land respectively (n = 139). Both researchers observed increasing SOC stock at a small number of stable positions in the hill country (n = 19–23); with possible reasons given being: reduced overgrazing, and/or a gradual longterm recovery of soil organic matter following erosion when forests were originally cleared.

Parfitt et al. (2014) linked changes in SOC to soil pH and P fertility, finding the sites they resampled that had decreased in pH had significant gains in C, whereas sites that had increased in pH had no significant gains in C, with possible reasons being that high pH (due to liming) and increased P fertility indicate more intensive management, thereby reducing SOC. Alternatively, there could be enhanced relocation of dissolved organic carbon to greater depths in soils of lower pH.

Percival et al. (2000) showed a positive relationship of SOC content to pyrophosphate-extractable Al, Fe oxide, allophane and clay content in New Zealand soils.

Current research topics (http://www.nzagrc.org.nz/soil-carbon. html) on ways to sequester C include:

- assessing the gap between current and potential levels of carbon storage in New Zealand soils
- assessing the effect of the more frequent renovation of dairy pastures, and mixed sward compositions.
- assessing the effect of biochar additions to soils, including the economics of incentives for land managers to apply biochar to land.

In conclusion, SOC in New Zealand soils is naturally high. Opportunities to sequester SOC include the creation or re-establishment of wetlands, and land use change (taking into account any impacts on biomass C). Current knowledge suggests that ways to sequester SOC will include targeting specific soil classes (e.g. allophanic soils), and/or specific landscape positions (e.g. wetlands) and using appropriate management strategies.

Efforts by landowners to sequester carbon into soil will need to be supported by improved ways of monitoring change, and New Zealand will need to develop a purpose-built sampling and monitoring protocol to address this challenge.

2.2. Chile

José Padarian

The top 0.3 m SOC stock estimate for Chile is 5.52 Gt and 9.8 Gt for the top 1 m (Fig. 4, Padarian et al., 2016). A 4 per mille increase per annum would translate to the capture of 39.2 Mt of carbon across the country, which is enough to offset its CO₂ emissions (19.11 Mt C, excluding Land Use Change and Forestry, LUCF), or offset 21.8% of the total GHG emissions (42.3 Mt of CO₂ equivalent, excluding LUCF). However if we only look at the agricultural area which only occupies 4.6% of the land area, the C stock for the top 1 m is 0.25 Gt.

Chile presents a clear north-south gradient of precipitation and temperature, and consequently SOC distribution, which divides the territory into areas prone to different management and SOC capture potentials. The northernmost part of the territory is dominated by arid and hyperarid conditions (Atacama dessert), with virtually no vegetation and a capture potential very close to zero, except for small amounts from atmospheric deposition (Ewing et al., 2008). A gradient of C stock along a north-south transect of grassland was observed, where soil C stock is a function of the interaction between climatic and geochemical factors (Doetterl et al., 2015). In the southernmost area, it is possible to find a large area of peatlands of about 4.5 Mha (Yu et al., 2010). The composition of the vegetation communities of this landtype varies across the landscape but, on average, it accumulates around 0.16 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ (McCulloch and Davies, 2001), which translates to 6.3 Mt per annum for the whole area. The current legislation fails to protect this fragile ecosystem, and many areas are being drained to establish forest plantations or being extracted for peat.

Due to geographical and economic factors, the area of cultivated lands is limited to about 2.1 Mha, where most are under traditional management. In this area, it is possible to extend the use of management practices like zero tillage or crop rotation, with a potential increase of 0.5 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ where water is not limiting (Martínez et al., 2013), leading to 1.05 Mt C sequestered per annum. In Patagonia, a soil C sequestration rate of 0.87, 0.34, and 1.09 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ was calculated for silvopasture, plantation and prairie system respectively (Dube et al., 2011).

Chile presents several governmental programs to enhance soil conditions, which finance managements that may lead to an increase of SOC. For example, reforestation and implementation of zero tillage. Additionally, Chile also adopted international commitments like the implementation of Nationally Appropriate Mitigation Actions (NAMAs), which include a strong forest component, with plans to afforest about 2.29 million ha. The accumulation rates will depend on the soil type, species, and climatic conditions (Schlatter and Gerding, 2001).

In summary, it is feasible to offset the current CO₂ emissions by increasing SOC in agricultural land by improving management, afforesting degraded areas and conserving delicate land uses like native forest and peatlands. It is important to consider that soils cannot store OC indefinitely and that GHG emissions tend to increase. It is also important to remember that even if there are good intentions creating new legislation and subscribing to international treaties, the implementation plans have to be correctly defined. For instance: a) at the moment, SOC and minimal residence time are not specifically mentioned, or b) a significant part of the offset is to be performed by the forest industry (NAMAs also include a carbon credits market), but without a modification of the current management system (clear-cut), the benefits associated with the NAMAs will be another transfer of funds to the private sector. It is important to remember that the forest industry greatly benefited during a military dictatorship (1973-1990), where stateowned forest lands were sold to private companies at artificially depressed prices. To reinforce this change, a reform was implemented in 1974, which included subsidies for plantation costs and tax exceptions. With the help of consecutive subsidies, tax credits, and the prohibition of union activity (Wilson et al., 2005), the private forest industry assured its position as an important economic activity in Chile, despite the multiple problems associated with it, such as the negative impact on the hydrological cycle (Little et al., 2009), biodiversity loss and deforestation (Echeverría et al., 2006; Nahuelhual et al., 2012), and the decrease of social security, especially in aboriginal communities (OLCA, Observatorio Latinoamericano de Conflictos Ambientales, 2003).

2.3. South Africa

Vincent Chaplot

South Africa occupies 1,214,470 km² in the southern tip of Africa, with longitudes from 3.3° to 38.0° E and latitudes from 54.5° to 22.1° S. Altitude above sea level ranges from 0 to nearly 4000 m with South Africa's landscape being dominated by a high Central Plateau, the Drakensberg, surrounded by coastal lowlands. The Savannah Biome, characterized by a grassy ground layer and a distinct upper layer of woody plants covers 30% of South Africa's area. It is well developed over the Lowveld and Kalahari region of South Africa. It is followed by grassland (30%), mostly concentrated in the east of the country on the high central plateau, thicket (predominantly in the river valleys of the eastern and southeastern coastal region) and forest (less than 5%). With a mean annual rainfall of approximately 450 mm, South Africa is regarded as semiarid. However, there are considerable regional variations, from less than 50 mm in the Richtersveld on the border with Namibia, to more than 3000 mm in the mountains of the southwestern Cape. The soils of South Africa range from black, smectitic clays on intrusive basic rocks to yellow, sandy to clayey kaolinitic soils on the sedimentary Karoo rocks.

Analytical data from 1433 soil profiles from the national land survey demonstrated that the top 1 m holds an estimated 11.42 Gt of SOC, 65% of which (7.03 Gt) is in the top 0.3 m. SOC stocks are the highest (>400 t C ha⁻¹) in the eastern and southern more rainy areas of the country (Fig. 5).

Shifts in rangeland (savannahs and natural and semi-natural grasslands) management may yield the greatest benefits for C sequestration in the country. Indeed, on the one hand, rangelands which cover about 50% of the area and 75% of SOC stocks, suffer from severe land degradation that have resulted from inappropriate management, with SOC stock losses of as much as 90% (Dlamini et al., 2014). On the other hand, improved grassland management involving short duration high density grazing resulted in measurable SOC sequestration in the topsoil (Chaplot et al., 2016). While options for croplands such as no tillage did not result in SOC gains (Mchunu et al., 2011). Depending on the method of calculation, it is estimated that up to 60% of South Africa's rangelands are degraded and assuming losses of 30-50% in the top 0.3 m of the soil, the carbon sequestration potential could be of 1.44 to 2.41 Gt. With a sequestration rate of 3.5%, this would correspond to 0.08–0.11 Gt C year⁻¹.

The South African government has been proactive in respect to carbon stocks and associated GHG emissions in natural and semi-natural ecosystems with 39 policies. These mostly aim at limiting the spread of alien invasive plants, controlling vegetation fire and restoring wetland and woodland systems. However, new policies need to target the urgent need for rangeland improvements with specific targeted intervention strategies and associated carbon sequestration and/or conservation benefits.

2.4. Australia

Uta Stockmann, Brendan Malone, Damien Field, Alex. McBratney

The Australian soil carbon stock has been estimated to be 25 Gt in the top 0.3 m (Viscarra Rossel et al., 2014), and of 49 Gt to 1 m depth (Fig. 6). Because of its large landmass, Australia could potentially play an important role in the global 4 per mille SOC sequestration initiative. If we only consider agricultural land at 470 million ha, a 0.4% increase means, on average, a sequestration rate of 0.22 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹. This suggested sequestration rate falls within measured rates of C sequestration after the adoption of best-management practices in Australia, where water is not severely limiting (0.1–0.4 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹, see Table 1).

However, in Australia soil carbon stocks vary greatly across the continent and correspond largely to differences in mean annual temperature, precipitation, soil profile class, and soil moisture content (Fig. 6, Bui et al., 2009). In general, soil carbon stocks are naturally quite small except in the Eastern regions of the country, with C stocks in undisturbed, natural ecosystems ranging between <10 t/ha in arid regions and 250 t/ha in cooler and wetter regions such as coastal swamps and Tasmania (Luo et al., 2010). From a soil C stock map, small soil C values are found in the sandy soils of the Northern Territory and Western Australia (required C sequestration rate <0.1 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹); moderate values (1–2% SOC) in the inland areas (0.1–0.2 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹); large values in the coastal areas (0.3–0.4 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹) and very large soil C values generally under natural vegetation (1 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹).

Studies have shown that soils worldwide have lost almost half of their initial C levels after the introduction of soil management practices (Paustian et al., 2000). For Australia, the largest loss of soil C of up to 0.4 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ was reported for conventional cultivation practices combined with stubble burning in an annual wheat cropping system (Luo et al., 2010). Best management practices have the capability to reverse this C loss as they generally maintain or increase soil C levels (Table 1). For example, Sanderman et al. (2010) reported that crop rotations – particularly ones that include a leguminous species (Murphy, 2015) – stubble retention and reduced tillage achieved an annual increase of soil C in the Australian environments studied; with sequestration rates of 0.20 C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹, 0.19 C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ and 0.34 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹, respectively.

The rate of soil C build up however also depends on soil type (Hoyle et al., 2013) with largest changes observed for cropping practices in Kandosols (Cambisols, WRB) and Chromosols (Lixisols, WRB), and smallest changes observed in Vertosols (Vertisols, WRB) (Murphy, 2015). In addition, the potential for soil C increase is also dependent on the availability of moisture which controls the decomposition of biomass, with largest changes occurring where the rainfall is between 400 to 600 mm (Luo et al., 2010).

On 25 July 2014, the Australian Government approved the first systems methodology for soil carbon sequestration. Farmers can adopt this methodology, and provided that they are changing some aspect of their grazing practice that will lead to measurable soil carbon increases, can earn regulated carbon credits that can be sold on the market. Cost-

Table 1

Management practices that are reported to sequester soil carbon.

Management practices	Country	Depth observed	Carbon sequestration rates ^b t C ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	Average C stock ^a t C ha ⁻¹	Period of observation	References
Arable land						
Organic amendment	China	Plough layer, 0–20 cm for dry cropland and 0–15 cm for paddy soil	0.62	24.4	*6 to 25 years, 14.4 years on average	Wang et al. (2010)
Organic amendment	China	Plough layer	0.54	24.4	*3 to 25 years	Jin et al. (2008)
Organic amendment combined with inorganic fertilizer	China	Plough layer, 0–20 cm for dry cropland and 0–15 cm for paddy soil	0.62 0.69 0.89	24.4	*3 to 25 years	Jin et al. (2008); Zhu et al. (2015); Wang et al. (2010)
Compost addition	S. Korea	0–30 cm paddy soils	0.24	40.5	42 years	Lee et al. (2013)
Compost addition with inorganic fertilizer	S. Korea	0-30 cm, paddy soils	0.39	40.5	42 years	Lee et al. (2013)
Compost addition	Taiwan	0–15 cm	0.46-1.00	36	*13-20 years	Wei et al. (2015a); Wei et al. (2015b)
Compost with inorganic fertilizer	Taiwan	0–15 cm	0.40-0.80	37.4	*20 years	Wei et al. (2015a); Wei et al. (2015b)
Farm yard manure (@0.16 Mg C/ha/yr)	Belgium	0–25 cm	0.45 ± 0.14	50	*20 years	Buysse et al. (2013)
Farm vard manure/crop residue	Nigeria	Topsoil	0.10-0.30	33.4	*50 years	FAO (2004)
Inorganic fertilizer with straw return	Indonesia	0-15 cm paddy soils	0.52 ± 0.16	179	40 years	Minasny et al. (2012)
Straw return with Inorganic fertilizer	Indonesia	0-15 cm paddy soils	0.47	17.9	*3 years	Sugivanta (2015)
Inorganic fertilizer	S Korea	0-15 cm paddy soils	0.37 ± 0.20	27.3	8 vears	Minasny et al. (2012)
Straw roturn	China	Deugh lavor	0.52 ± 0.29	27.5	*2 to 25 years	$\frac{1}{2002}$
			0.37-0.00	27.0	5 to 25 years	Lu et al. (2009)
Rice-Rice with NPK	India	0–20 cm	0.23	31.3	36 years	Mandal et al. (2008)
Rice-Rice with NPK $+$ compost	India	0–20 cm	0.41	31.3	36 years	Mandal et al. (2008)
Rice-Wheat with NPK	India	0–60 cm	0.66	34.4	19 years	Majumder et al. (2008)
Rice-Wheat with NPK + Farm yard manure (FYM)	India	0–60 cm	0.99	34.4	19 years	Majumder et al. (2008)
Rice-Wheat with NPK + Paddy straw	India	0–60 cm	0.89	34.4	19 years	Majumder et al. (2008)
Rice-Wheat with NPK + Green manuring	India	0–60 cm	0.82	34.4	19 years	Majumder et al. (2008)
Inorganic fertilizer	India	0–15 cm	0.16	13.3	6-32 years	Pathak et al. (2011)
Inorganic fertilizer + FYM	India	0–15 cm	0.33	13.3	6-32 years	Pathak et al. (2011)
Residue incorporation	Nigeria	0–15 cm	0.24	20	*18 vears	Raii and Ogunwole (2006)
Stubble retention	Australia	0–15 cm	0.19 ± 0.08	21.2	*	Sanderman et al. (2010)
Stubble retention	Australia	0–10 cm	0.147 ± 0.059	183	*4 to 40 v	Lam et al. (2013)
No till	China	Plough layer	0.16-0.51	1010	3 to 25 years	Jin et al. (2008); Lu et al. (2009); Wang et al. (2009)
No till	France	0–30 cm, Wheat-corn rotation	0.2 ± 0.13	51.6	20 years	Arrouays et al. (2002b)
No till	UK	Topsoil	0.31 ± 0.2	80	5–23 vears	Powlson et al. (2012)
No till	LISA	0-20 or 0-30 cm	0.51 ± 0.2 $0.4 \pm 0.61^{\circ}$	53 ± 252	12–34 vears	Iohnson et al. (2005)
No till plus cover crops	LISA	0-20 cm	0.1 ± 0.01 0.45 ± 0.04	255 ± 0.9	11 ± 1 years	Franzluebbers (2010)
No an plus cover crops	(southeast)	0 20 011	0.15 ± 0.01	23.5 ± 0.5	II <u> </u>	
Conventional till to no till	(Journeast)	0.20 cm	0.05 0.16	75	20 voars	VandonPugaart et al. (2008)
Reduced use of summer fallow	Canada	0-30 cm	0.00-0.10	75	20 years	VandenBuggaart et al. (2008)
Reduced use of summer fallow	Australia	0-50 CIII	0.30	75	20 years	Condermon at al. (2010)
	Australia	0-15 cm	0.34 ± 0.06	21.2	42 years	Sanderman et al. (2010)
Reduced tillage	вегдиш	υ-ου cm	U 0.15 × 0.000	10.0	∠∪ years	D Haene et al. (2009)
Conservation tillage	Australia	0–10 cm	0.15 ± 0.028	18.3	4 to 40 years	Lam et al. (2013)
Conservation tillage	France	0–25 cm	0.10	51.6	28 years	Metay et al. (2009)
Crop rotation	Australia	0–15 cm	0.20 ± 0.04	21.2	Various, 4 to 42 years	Sanderman et al. (2010)
Crop rotation	France	0–30 cm	0.16 ± 0.08	51.6	20 years	Arrouays et al. (2002a,b)
Crop rotation with perennial grasses	Russia	Plough layer	0.03-0.08	32.3	*5 years	Savin et al. (2002)
Conversion to ley farming	England	0–23 cm	0.20	80	30 years	Powlson and Johnston (2015)
Conversion of annual cropping to crop + ley rotation Grassland	USA	0–30 cm	0.5	78	30 years	Dick et al. (1998)
Cropping to pasture	Australia	0–15 cm	0.30-0.60	27.5	4 to 42 years	Sanderman et al. (2010)
Cropping to pasture	Australia	Pasture rotation, 0-30 cm from 33% to 67% pasture	0.22-0.76	43	10 years	Chan et al. (2011)
Cropping to pasture	Australia	Pasture to improved	0.76	43	10 years	Chan et al. (2011)
Cropping to pasture	Australia	0_{-30} cm	0.78	31	47 vears	Badgery et al. (2014)
Cropping to pasture	Franco	0_30 cm	0.70	516	-1.7 years	$\frac{2014}{2002}$
Cropping to pasture	England	0–23 cm	0.49 ± 0.20 0.51	80	35 years	Goulding and Poulton
Desture	Australia	0–10 cm	0 132 + 0.054	182	A to 40 years	(2003)
i asluic Dacturo	Australia	0 = 10 cm	0.132 ± 0.034	25	7 years	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Lametal} (2013) \\ \text{Chap of al} (2011) \\ \end{array}$
ו מזנעוד	Ausudild	and appual pacture	0.735 ± 0.049		/ years	
		anu annuai pastule				

Table 1 (continued)

Management practices	Country	Depth observed	Carbon sequestration rates ^b t C ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	Average C stock ^a t C ha ⁻¹	Period of observation	References
		0–30 cm	-0.20 ± 0.07	105.3	27 years	Schipper et al. (2014)
		0–90 cm	-0.36 ± 0.14			
Pastoral hilly land	New Zealand	0–30 cm	0.60 ± 0.16	104.8	27 years	Schipper et al. (2014)
		0–90 cm	0.90 ± 0.30			
Increase of temporary Pasture duration	France	0–30 cm	0.1 to 0.5 \pm 0.24	51.6	20 years	Arrouays et al. (2002a,b)
Temporary to permanent grassland	France	0–30 cm	0.3-0.4	51.6	20 years	Arrouays et al. (2002a,b)
Moderate intensification,	France	0–30 cm	0.2 ± 0.25	51.6	20 years	Arrouays et al. (2002a,b)
improved pasture						
Planting of hedgerows	France	0–30 cm	0.1 ± 0.05	51.6	20 years	Arrouays et al. (2002a,b)
Annual cropping to perennials	Canada	0–30 cm	0.46 to 0.72	75	*20 years	VandenBygaart et al. (2008)
Conversion of annual cropland USA		$0-25 \pm 2 \text{ cm}$	0.84 ± 0.11	Not	17 ± 1 years	Franzluebbers (2010)
to grassland	(southeast)			reported		
Conversion to improved grazing	USA	0–50 cm	0.41	40.1 ± 5.6	3–25 years	Conant et al. (2003)
Reseeded, grazed swards with N	Ireland	0–15 cm	1.04-1.45	Not	10 years	Watson et al. (2007)
Fertilizer N applied at 0–500 kg N ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹				reported		
Plantation & forestry						
Well-managed oil palm plantation	Indonesia	0–30 cm	0.42 ± 0.17	41.9	25 years	Khasanah et al. (2015)
Forestry	Indonesia	0–10 cm	1.12 ± 0.97	23.4	10 years	Dechert et al. (2004)
Afforestation	France	0–30 cm	0.44 ± 0.24	81	*20 years	Arrouays et al. (2002a,b)
Afforestation	Nigeria	0–15 cm	0.57	30	*35 years	Raji and Ogunwole (2006)
Afforestation	England	0–69 cm	0.54	59	120 years	Poulton et al. (2003)
Afforestation	England	0–69 cm	0.38	61	118 years	Poulton et al. (2003)
Afforestation	Taiwan	0–20 cm	0.34	22.9	23 years	Lin et al. (2011a)
Afforestation of grassland	Ireland	0–30 cm	2.2-2.5	97.2 ± 27.3	16 y	Black et al. (2009)
Afforestation on annual	USA	0–100 cm	0.35	51.8 ± 2.8	50 y	Morris et al. (2007)
cropland – deciduous trees						
Afforestation on annual	USA	0–100 cm	0.26	51.8 ± 2.8	50 y	Morris et al. (2007)
cropland – coniferous trees						

Numbers with * sign means C stock is based on regional estimates.

^a Reported C stock prior to the management intervention

 $^{\rm b}$ ± refers to standard error of estimates.

^c Standard deviation.

effective C auditing schemes have now been developed that can be used to measure C stock changes at the farm scale (De Gruijter et al., 2016).

2.5. Tanzania

Leigh Winowiecki and Tor-Gunnar Vågen

Stocks of organic carbon to 0.3 m depth were calculated for Tanzania based on field survey data and MODIS reflectance data, producing a 500 m resolution digital soil map based on the methodology described in Winowiecki et al. (2016a) (Fig. 4). The largest SOC stocks were located in forested ecosystems around Mt Kilimanjaro and Mt Meru, in the Uluguru mountains south of Morogoro, parts of West Usambara mountains and in the south-eastern lowland (coastal) areas. This corresponds to previous studies that calculated 148 ± 53 t C ha⁻¹ on average for top 0.3 m in the Uluguru mountains (Munishi and Shear, 2004) and 53.1 t C ha⁻¹ up Mt. Hanang, reports (Swai et al., 2014). The West Usambara Mountains, for example, had high variability in SOC (ranging from 7.0–138 g kg⁻¹), with a 50% reduction of SOC in cultivated areas (Winowiecki et al., 2016b). No significant differences were found in carbon stocks to 0.3 m between the main land use classifications (woodland, shrubland, grasslands, and cropland). However, lowest SOC stocks were found on soils developed from granitic parent material and semi-arid climates, such as in Central Tanzania. These dryland areas have been experiencing increased population pressure as well as both agricultural and livestock expansion.

While variability across Tanzania was high, the mean estimated SOC stock to 0.3 m was calculated to be 47 t C ha⁻¹, which translates into a total of 4.44 Gt C as a whole (assuming an area for the country of 945,808 km²). To achieve a 4 per mille increase, topsoil organic carbon would need to be increased by 17.78 million tonnes for the whole

country. This number corresponds to 0.188 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ increase. However, if we assume that only 33% of Tanzania is cultivated (312,116 km²), and assuming that most of this increase will need to be on managed agricultural land, a 4 per mille increase corresponds to a 0.569 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ increase.

In 2003, the Maputo declaration on Agriculture, Food Security in Africa was signed by nations who committed 10% of their annual budget to agricultural development. Furthermore, the confounding effects and uncertainty of climate change have resulted in the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCC) supporting developed countries to develop national adaptation programme of action (NAPA). In line with the National Climate Change Strategy (2013), the Ministry of Agriculture, Livestock and Fisheries (MALF) in the United Republic of Tanzania prepared the Agriculture Climate Resilience Plan (ACRP) to identify and respond to the most urgent impacts posed by climate variability and climate change to crop productivity. This plan includes a suite of agricultural options, including climate-smart agriculture (CSA), which encourages increased soil organic carbon (FAO, 2013). While Tanzania is investing in sustainable agricultural intensification and CSA, research highlights that curbing land degradation (e.g., decreasing soil erosion, for example), has an important role in carbon sequestration, overall (Lal et al., 2015; Vågen and Winowiecki, 2013).

2.6. Indonesia

Yiyi Sulaeman and Budiman Minasny

The topsoil carbon stock estimate for Indonesian mineral soil (0–30 cm) based on soil legacy data and a soil map of 1:250,000 is 9.9 \pm 0.4 Gt C with an average C content of 58 \pm 2 t C ha⁻¹. The



Fig. 3. Soil C stocks of topsoil (0–0.3 m) in t C ha⁻¹of New Zealand (New Zealand Agricultural Greenhouse Gas Research Centre, 2016), Map uses the Mercator projection.

estimate is based on soil order regardless of land use, with highest C content in Andisols ($94 \pm 2 \text{ t C ha}^{-1}$). SOC content was larger under wetland condition, lower pH, higher rainfall, higher altitude (lower temperature) and higher clay and silt content (van Noordwijk et al., 1997). Carbon stock for organic soils or peatland is estimated at 33.7 Gt C based on a peatland area of 20.9 Mha (Wahyunto and Agus, 2010). There is still a lot of uncertainty in these estimates as there is a lack of reliable spatial data on the peat extent and thickness (Page et al., 2010a, 2010b).

Although peat occupies only about 10% of Indonesia's land area, it holds more than twice the amount of C compared to mineral soils. In peats, organic matter accumulated under saturated conditions with a median accumulation rate estimated as 1.3 mm y⁻¹ or 0.67 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ (Page et al., 2010a, 2010b). The carbon content in a well-developed peat is relatively constant at 550 \pm 20 g kg⁻¹ (Rudiyanto and Setiawan, 2016), with bulk density values ranging between 0.05 to 0.15 Mg m⁻³. However, the thickness of peat varies considerably with the thickness of a peat dome can reach up to 20 m. Under natural saturated conditions, peat emits CO₂ and CH₄ gases due to anaerobic microbial activities.

The major processes of carbon loss from peatlands are enhanced decomposition from land use conversion and fire. Anthropogenic activities cleared and drained peatlands for the establishment of plantations or agricultural fields. These large-scale disturbances cause elevated CO_2 emissions. A study in Central Kalimantan showed a linear relationship between the average water table depth and C losses. The average C loss from the biological peat oxidation based on subsidence measurement is at 4.5 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ from a burnt peatland and 7.9 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ from a drained forest (Hooijer et al., 2014). Another study by Jauhiainen et al. (2012) who used heterotrophic respiration in an Acacia plantation on peatland in Sumatra found a value of 20 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹. Despite variations in carbon losses found in various studies, these values demonstrate rapid carbon depletion in drained peatlands. Another problem with drained peat is that it subsides and can become hydrophobic, prolonged droughts during El Niño events can also aggravate peat fires. In the 1997 fire event on peatlands in Indonesia, it was estimated that 0.19–0.23 Gt C were released to the atmosphere (Page et al., 2002). In the 2016 fire event, it was estimated to release 0.48 Gt C (Global Fire Emissions Database, 2016) which is double the current amount of Indonesia's greenhouse gas emission (excluding land use) of 0.21 Gt C.

In mineral soils, most studies have looked at soil organic matter depletion following the conversion from natural vegetation to plantations or agricultural lands (Leuschner et al., 2013). Smiley and Kroschel (2008) compared C stocks of cocoa agroforests in Central Sulawesi and found that C stock (0–1 m) decreased during the first 8 y, and increased after 9–15 years at a rate of 5.3 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹. Another study by Van Straaten et al. (2015) compared SOC stocks from paired forests and adjacent oil palm, rubber, and cacao agroforest plantations from sites in Indonesia, Cameroon, and Peru. They found that SOC stock in oil palm, rubber, and cacao agroforestry plantations are up to 50% smaller when compared to natural forests. However, a study by Khasanah et al. (2015) in oil-palm plantations in mineral soils in Indonesia found no increase or decrease in soil C stocks compared with natural vegetation. Good practices which retain the plant residues can maintain soil C stock, and cause no detectable net carbon emission from soil at a scale relevant for national C accounting. These two contrasting results suggest that this space-for-time comparison must be interpreted with care, and there are different stages of the soil carbon "transition curve" (van Noordwijk et al., 2014) where plant and soil interactions are dynamic and both increases and decreases are possible.

This transition curve is demonstrated in a study using long-term soil legacy data from 1930 to 2010 on the island of Java (Minasny et al., 2011). This study showed that the topsoil SOC had a rapid decrease from 1930 (20 t C ha⁻¹) to 1970 (7 t C ha⁻¹), which is mostly due to the high conversion of forests and natural vegetation into plantations



Fig. 4. Soil C stocks of topsoil (0-0.3 m) in t C ha⁻¹ of Chile (from Padarian et al., 2016). Map uses the Mercator projection.

and subsequently to food crops. Conversely, there is a slow increase from 1970 to 1990 due to the green revolution and a further increase from 1990 to 2010. The increased biomass and the return of crop residues, green compost and animal manure application were mostly responsible for the rise of SOC content in Java, with a sequestration rate of 0.2–0.3 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹. This finding gives rise to optimism for increased soil carbon sequestration in Indonesia.

The best strategy for SOC sequestration in Indonesia is to avoid deforestation for both mineral soils and peatlands, and restoring degraded lands. The government has been trying to resolve these issues nationally by establishing a peat restoration agency which aims to restore 2 million hectares of peatland within the next 20 years. In addition, it recently issued a moratorium on the suspension of permits for new oil palm plantation and land-mining development. At COP22 in Marrakech, the UN environment, government of Indonesia with partners around the world established the Global Peatlands Initiative with an aim to increase the conservation, restoration and sustainable management of peatlands in countries with significant peatlands.

Restoring degraded and deforested lands can lead to increase storage of soil carbon and restore soil's productivity and function. Degraded lands can be used for oil palm and forestry plantations. With no net increase in cultivated lands, the government has an important role in promoting good agricultural practices that increase crop production and also sequester soil carbon. Paddy soils have the greatest potential, straw incorporation with reduced inorganic fertilizer has been found to only increase soil carbon stocks but also crop yield (Sugiyanta, 2015). Planting high-yield varieties, balanced fertilization and organic fertilizer application, water management and crop care are some practices that can be applied. Andosols developed from volcanic ash have been found to have a high sequestration rate with a potential to store more carbon than mineral soils (Fiantis et al., 2016).

The 4 per mille initiative may not be applicable everywhere in Indonesia. In Indonesia, it should be aiming at neutral C emission from peatlands, and increasing soil C stocks in croplands. Most studies focus on measuring SOC loss (van Straaten et al., 2015), while we should now focus more on good data on soil management that can sequester SOC in Indonesia.



Fig. 5. A map of soil organic carbon (SOC) stock to 0.3 m in t C ha⁻¹interpolated over South Africa from 1433 observations using ordinary kriging. Map uses the Mercator projection.



Fig. 6. Soil C stocks of topsoil (0–0.3 m) in t C ha⁻¹ of Australia (data from Viscarra Rossel et al., 2014). Map uses the Mercator projection.



Fig. 7. Map of SOC stocks to 30 cm at 500-m resolution (top left) for Tanzania. A targeted increase in SOC of four per mille per year would look like (top right). A map of predicted SOC stocks in 2025 if this target was met (bottom left) and the map on the bottom right is the difference between 2025 and 2012 under a scenario of 4 per mille increase.



Fig. 8. Soil carbon stock of Nigeria for the top 0.3 m in t C ha⁻¹ from Akpa et al. (2016).

2.7. Kenya

Tor-G. Vågen and Leigh Winowiecki

Kenyan soils store an estimated 2.4 Gt C in topsoils (top 0.3 m depth). These estimates were made based on a pantropical dataset of

SOC concentrations and data on soil cumulative mass collected using the Land Degradation Surveillance Framework (LDSF) (Vågen and Winowiecki, 2013; Winowiecki et al., 2016a). Overall, estimated C stocks are lowest in countries that are part of the arid and semi-arid lands (ASAL) of Kenya, in the eastern and northern parts of the country,



Fig. 9. Soil C stocks of topsoil (0–0.3 m) in t C ha⁻¹of South Korea (based on Hong et al., 2010). Map uses the Mercator projection.



Fig. 10. SOC stocks of topsoil (0–0.3 m) in t C ha⁻¹ of the USA. Data from Soil Survey Staff, Rapid Assessment of U.S. Soil Carbon (RaCA) project, USDA, NRCS. Map uses the Mercator projection.

particularly in areas with sandy soils. Higher values are found in subhumid and humid parts of the country, such as in the central highlands and in western region. The highest SOC stocks are found in forest systems, such as around Mt Kenya, the Aberdares, the Mau Forest Complex and Kakamega forest, as well as in wetland ecosystems. Inland riverine and palustrine wetland systems along for example the Ewaso Ng'iro River in Isiolo County are of critical importance for SOC storage in dryland ecosystems in Kenya. Carbon stocks in the top 0.3 m frequently reach between 80 and 100 t C ha⁻¹. Other wetland systems, such as around the Rift Valley lakes and lacustrine wetlands along Kenya's coast, are also examples ecosystems that are important for C storage in the country. Many of these wetlands are currently under threat in Kenya.

In order to increase SOC stocks in Kenya by 4 per mille, topsoil C would have to be increased by 9.6 million tonnes annually, which corresponds to about 0.17 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ on average for the country. The total emissions of C from fossil fuels in Kenya were estimated at 10.79 million metric tonnes in 2006 and are likely to be higher in 2016, which means that emissions will be outpacing C storage rates with 4 per mille increases in SOC.

The potential for increased SOC storage is likely to be highest in parts of the country where water is not a major limiting factor, which are also the areas of the country that are most densely populated. Given these high population densities and the rapid expansion of agricultural lands in the country and the significant losses of SOC that result from cultivation (Winowiecki et al., 2016a), there will be a need for largescale adoption of improved agricultural management, particularly practices that increase organic inputs to agricultural soils. Another important strategy will be to improve rangeland management to reduce overgrazing and soil erosion, which is also contributing to losses of C from the soil. While the potential to sequester SOC in rangelands which are predominantly found in drylands — is limited when expressed on a per-unit-area basis they occupy very large areas and hence can play an important role for SOC storage in the country.

2.8. Nigeria

Inakwu Odeh

Apart from a few local and regional studies on soil carbon stock in Nigeria (e.g., Anikwe, 2010), there has been no formal coordinated national scale SOC inventory until a recent work by Akpa et al. (2016). Similarly, apart from a loose reference to enforcement of regulations for soil and water conservation, especially in erosion-prone areas in the National Vision 2010 (Ajayi and Ikporukpo, 2005) and to



Fig. 11. Soil carbon stock of France for the top 30 cm in t C ha⁻¹ (based on Mulder et al., 2016). Map uses the Mercator projection.



Fig. 12. Spatial distribution of carbon stocks (top 0.3 m) in t C ha⁻¹ of Scotland according to the analysis of Poggio and Gimona (2014). Map uses the Mercator projection.

conservation agriculture for sustainable environment in Vision 2020, there has been no formal policy framework related to SOC or SOC monitoring in terms of a coordinated network of observations across the country.

The work by Akpa et al. (2016) was based on an assemblage of soil legacy data gathered over many years to enable the digital mapping of SOC. The digital soil map was created using the Random Forests algorithm based on the GlobalSoilMap specifications (Arrouays et al., 2014) and shows the spatial distribution patterns of SOC stock indicating a decreasing trend from the southern region to the north (Fig. 8). This trend has more to do with annual rainfall which decreases from over 3000 mm in the southern region bordering the Atlantic Ocean to about 500 mm in the north-eastern region bordering Lake Chad (Ilesanmi, 1971).

The study by Akpa et al. (2016) also indicated SOC density and stock in the top 0.30 m and 1.0 m to vary significantly across the different agro-ecological zones and land use types, with SOC density ranging between 20–60 t C ha⁻¹ in the top 0.3 m and 47–118 Mg C ha⁻¹ in the top 1 m. There was more SOC density in the Humid Forest zone than in any other zones. The distribution of total SOC stored in soils under the various agro-ecological zones ranged from 152 Mt in the Mid-High altitudes to 2035 Mt in derived savannah with values in other zones in between.

Given the differences in SOC stock across the prevailing land use types and agro-ecological zones in Nigeria, there is variable potential to sequester C (Akpa et al., 2016). As a consequence, the derived savannah zone which is transitional between the rainforest and savannahs zones has the highest capacity to store C (1.6 to 19.0 t C ha⁻¹), compared to other land use types. While the southern Guinea savannah (0.4 to 2.3 t C ha⁻¹) has the least capacity to store additional C. Under the humid forest zone, potential C sequestration rate ranged from 3.8 to 22.8 t C ha⁻¹ with an average of 16.9 t C ha⁻¹. The restoration of shrubland, croplands, grassland, and savannah to native vegetation in each of these zones has the potential of storing an additional 3.8, 19.9 t C ha⁻¹, 21.1 t C ha⁻¹ and 22.8 t C ha⁻¹ respectively. These values represent a change of about 3.1%, 18.6%, 19.9% and 21.9% between the SOC in the current land use and the native vegetation (Akpa et al., 2016).

In terms of management of SOC under various farming systems and land management, results indicate that these are within the reported potential of soil to sequester C. For example, the work sponsored by the FAO (FAO, 2004) under drylands in northern Nigeria indicated that the rate of C sequestration with the use of legumes, fallow periods, farm yard manure and retention of plant residues varies between 0.1 and 0.3 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹, over a period of 7 to 50 years. Comparatively, a study on the impact of afforestation on C sequestration under Guinea and Sudan savannah agro-ecological zones (Raji and Ogunwole, 2006) was reported to have resulted in a C sequestration rate of 0.57 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ over 35 years.

2.9. India

Bhabani S. Das and Biswapati Mandal

The geographical location (between 8°4' and 37°6' N latitude and 68°7' and 97°25' E longitude), tropical and subtropical climates, predominantly dryland agriculture (~69% of total), and huge top soil erosion are the major reasons for inherently low $(3.2 \text{ g kg}^{-1}, \text{ on average})$ organic C content in Indian soils (Rai et al., 2009). Using the extensive database of the National Bureau of Soil Survey and Land Use Planning (NBSS&LUP), Bhattacharyya et al. (2008) estimated that Indian soils contain only 9.55 and 24.04 Gt organic C (SOC) out of about 13.69 and 46.50 Gt of total carbon in the top 0.3 and 1 m soil, respectively. Sreenivas et al. (2016) estimated SOC, soil inorganic C and total soil C pool size of India at 22.72 \pm 0.93,12.83 \pm 1.35 and 35.55 \pm 1.87 Gt, respectively, in the top 1 m. Similarly, using modelling approaches, Falloon et al. (2007) estimated C stock for Indian soils in the order of 6.5-8.5 Gt; whereas Banger et al. (2015) reported the stock at 20.5 to 23.4 Gt. Thus, the Indian contribution to the global SOC pool is in the order of 20-25 Gt for the top 1 m. With an annual C emission of about 566 million tonnes from the Indian subcontinent (CDIAC database), the required C sequestration rate for India would be about 23-28 per mille as opposed to the global requirement of 4 per mille.

A closer look at the regional distribution of SOC stock across dominant agro-ecosystems in India showed that the semi-arid (116.4 Mha) and sub-humid (105.0 Mha) regions contribute to about 56% of the total SOC stock (Bhattacharyya et al., 2008). Forests (9.38 Gt) and mono- and double-cropped lands (8.81 Gt) contribute almost 80% to the total SOC stock (Sreenivas et al., 2016). Incidentally, Sreenivas et al. (2016) also observed the highest mean SOC density in soils under plantation (253 t C ha⁻¹) followed by forest (139.9 t C ha⁻¹) and agricultural land (58.5–67.4 t C ha⁻¹). Considering a declining forest area and availability of 147 Mha of degraded land (Maji et al., 2010) requiring immediate rehabilitation measures, an urgent attempt may be made to promote plantations in those lands for improving SOC stock in the country. Long-term experiments (25-40 y) with balanced fertilization (NPK) and 5–10 Mg ha⁻¹ of organic residues in cropped land have shown an increase in SOC content by only 10-20% of the soil's initial value (Mandal, 2011; Pathak et al., 2011) ensuring a C build up rate of only 0.13 to 0.27 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ (equivalently, 0.043–0.089 Gt year⁻¹) under different rice-based cropping systems (Mandal et al., 2007, 2008). Lal (2004) also estimated C sequestration rates in India at about 0.024 to 0.036 Gt year⁻¹. More recently, Banger et al. (2015) estimated C sequestration rates to range from 0.027 to 0.045 Gt year⁻¹. Thus, with these prevailing C sequestration rates of 0.024 to 0.089 Gt year⁻¹ and about 25 Gt of SOC stock, it may be possible to contribute about 1-4 per mille SOC lost through C emission. Long-term experiments have clearly shown that to cause no depletion and maintain the SOC level, at least 0.31 to 5.16 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ are needed to be added to soils through crop residues or some other organic sources under different agro-ecological zones of the country depending primarily on the aridity index of the locations (Mandal, 2011). Promotion of pulses and legumes (for their unique SOC build-up properties), diverting a part of fertilizer subsidy and efficient use of available crop residues (679 Mt annually) and municipal solid wastes (64.8 Mt annually) along with green manuring and suitable cropping systems (rice-based) may help to improve or at least curb declining trends in SOC stock in Indian soils.

2.10. Taiwan China

Chun-Chih Tsui and Zueng-Sang Chen

Cultivated lands (0.8 Mha) and forest lands (2.1 Mha) are generally distinguished in China Taiwan with approximately 3.6 million ha in total. The estimation for total SOC stocks for the top 0.3 and 1.0 m are 38.5 and 77.0 Mt in cultivated soils (Jien et al., 2010), and 114 and 160 Mt (top 0.3 and 1.0 m) in forest soils (Tsai et al., 2010). The average SOC stocks of cultivated soils tend to decrease from north to south because of the warmer climate (Chen et al., 2000; Tsui et al., 2013). For forest soils, the variation of SOC stocks is significantly related to air temperature and elevation gradients. The current annual CO₂ emissions from fossil fuel of Taiwan are 251.04 Mt (or 68.47 Mt C).

In general, 49.6% of cultivated lands are used for rice production, which is more efficient for C sequestration compared to other crops (Chen et al., 2000). Rice-cropping systems combined with applications of compost and crop residues have been strongly recommended by government agencies. Since there is no regular monitoring network for cultivated soil carbon, SOC sequestration rates of various practices in cultivated soils were estimated based on limited long-term studies. If we consider that the upper 0.3 m of soils weigh 4,000 t ha^{-1} , then the annual SOC sequestration rates are 0.46 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ with synthetic fertilizer application and 0.83 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ for organic farming (Wei et al., 2015a, 2015b). Therefore, 0.74 to 1.33 Mt C year⁻¹ can be sequestrated in cultivated soils of China Taiwan. If we use the estimated SOC stocks for topsoil as 152.5 Mt, then the annual increase rate of SOC is 0.61 Mt (0.21 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹) to meet the 4 per mille challenge. The results indicated that SOC sequestration rates of various practices in cultivated topsoil (0.46 to 0.83 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹) are much higher than the 4 per mille goal estimated for China Taiwan.

Afforestation in the marginal crop lands of plains has been positively implemented since 2002. The government agencies plan to afforest 25,000 ha. The annual SOC sequestration rate in the top 0.3 m in the afforested lands is estimated at 0.51 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ (Lin et al., 2011a,

2011b). We estimated the annual increase rate of SOC in the topsoil of natural forest land to be at least 1 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ for natural vegetation ecosystems of the subtropical monsoon region of Taiwan. Therefore, 2.10 Mt of SOC can be sequestrated in forest topsoils of China Taiwan.

The Taiwan Agriculture Research Institute (TARI) has conducted a detailed soil survey based on a grid sampling design ($250 \text{ m} \times 250 \text{ m}$) between 1992 and 2010. More than 130,000 pedons from the surface to 1.5 m were collected from the cultivated soils. There was also a detailed survey for forest soils (>8,000 pedons) which was conducted by Taiwan Forestry Research Institute (TFRI) between 1993 and 2002. We hope this will improve the SOC stock calculation in China Taiwan in the near future.

2.11. South Korea

Suk Young Hong

The SOC stock (to 1 m) for South Korea based on 390 soil series and the associated 1:25,000 soil series map is estimated at 447 Mt, with an average SOC density of 50 t C ha⁻¹. The topsoil (0–0.3 m) holds half of the C stock. SOC stocks in grass and agricultural lands were as large as 88 and 68 t C ha⁻¹, respectively (Hong et al., 2010). SOC storage of agricultural land in Korea is approximately 174 Mt (to 1 m). About twothirds of the land is mountainous covered by forest with steep slopes and shallow soils. Intensive agriculture is mainly established on the plains. The South Korean government has agricultural policies on food security which ensures self-sufficiency and price stability for rice. Farming in South Korea is highly intensive and synthetic fertilizers were subsidised up to the year 2005. Agricultural land constitutes about 23% of the land area in the 1970s (2.23 Mha), but due to rapid industrialization and increasing population, its size has been shrinking. In 2015, the area is estimated as 1.68 Mha, with a decreasing rate of 14,400 ha y^{-1} . The agricultural sector also has been decreasing in both the gross national product and employment rate (Jo and Koh, 2004).

A national soil monitoring program was established in 1999 for major agricultural lands in South Korea, including paddy fields, upland agriculture systems, orchards, and plastic-film houses. Samples have been collected every four years, and analysis of these data showed that there has been an increase in the mean topsoil (0–0.2 m) organic carbon content from 11.3 g C kg⁻¹ in 1970 to 12.8 g C kg⁻¹ in 1999, to 13.2 g C kg⁻¹ in 2003 (Minasny et al., 2012). The calculated mean rate increase is 0.17 g C kg⁻¹ year⁻¹ or 0.43 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹. For upland soils, the mean increase calculated from 131 soil series from 2001 to 2005 is 0.39 g C kg⁻¹ year⁻¹ or 0.64 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹. Nevertheless, a recent analysis using the more recent soil test database showed that the SOC level in paddy soil is stable at around 13 g C kg⁻¹ (Minasny et al., 2016).

There has been a great concern in the recent decades on agricultural sustainability in Korea which relies heavily on synthetic fertilizer and accelerates soil erosion. In 2010, the Korean government halted chemical fertilizer subsidy, but continued to subsidise organic fertilizer. Balanced fertilizer management was promoted to reduce environmental impacts and the storage of carbon and nitrogen in agricultural soils. A long-term fertilizer trial showed the benefits of adding compost and compost with inorganic fertiliser in increasing SOC stock (Lee et al., 2013). The application of compost and return of rice straw is encouraged.

Although there is a potential to sequester carbon in Korean soils, the shrinking and limited agricultural land areas will not be able to offset its greenhouse gas emission. 4 per mille on the agricultural land will only sequester 0.7 Mt C while it emits more than 170 Mt C annually. Nevertheless South Korea has a 2030 target of reducing greenhouse gas emissions by 37 percent from business-as-usual (BAU) levels using technologies, renewable resources and a carbon tax.

2.12. China Mainland

Kun Cheng and Genxing Pan

The total SOC stock for the upper meter of soil was estimated at ~ 90 Gt for 870.94 Mha covered by 2473 soil series surveyed from the 2nd National Soil Survey conducted in the early 1980s. The SOC pools of farmland, forest and grassland were 12.98, 34.23 and 37.71 Gt, respectively (Xie et al., 2007; Yu et al., 2007). The total SOC pool in the top 0.3 m was estimated to account for 54% of the carbon stock in the top 1 m (Wang et al., 2004). The average C density for agricultural soils is 83.4 t C ha⁻¹ in top 1 m and 41.6 t C ha⁻¹ in the top 0.3 m. China's topsoil SOC stock is about 44 Gt, but only 5.1 Gt C stored in croplands (1.3 Gt C in rice paddies and another 3.8 Gt in dry croplands) (Pan et al., 2010).

Conservation tillage, which involves minimum tillage plus straw return had been applied on only 1.5% of China's cropland by 2009 (Ministry of Agriculture of China, MOA, National Development and Reform Commission of China, NDRC, 2009). According to the National planning of conservation tillage project of China (2009–2015) (Ministry of Agriculture of China, MOA, National Development and Reform Commission of China, NDRC, 2009), 17% of cropland in the north of China would participate in the conservation tillage project by 2015, and the expected SOC concentration in plough layer would be increased as 0.1–0.6 g kg⁻¹ annually.

However, in the last decade, Chinese cropland has received fertilizers with unbalanced nutrients, particularly excess N and without proper straw return or organic amendments. National projects such as "Work program of popularization operation of recommended fertilization" aim to reduce N use and to balance nutrients, mainly with combined organic and inorganic fertilizers. Since 2005, 60 Mha of cropland across China's mainland had been covered under this project until 2008 (Ministry of Agriculture of China, MOA, 2009). According to national plans (Ministry of Agriculture of China, MOA, 2009, 2010, 2011), the area under this project will increase by 6.67 Mha each year from 2009 onwards and will eventually cover all cropland within 20 y. There is also a national program that provides a subsidy to encourage farmers to return crop straw, increasingly apply organic manure, and plant green manure. "Straw Comprehensive Utilization Project" was established by the government of China since 2008. The recent straw utilization rate was about 80%, and this rate is projected to increase to more than 90% by 2020.

According to the "National plan of high standard farm construction", there will be as much as 40% of China's cropland considered as farms with a high standard. One of the important indicators is that the SOC concentration of these farms should be at least 12 g kg⁻¹. The mean SOC concentration of China's dry cropland was only 10.8 g kg⁻¹, al-though 74% of rice paddies had the SOC concentration higher than 12 g kg⁻¹ (Pan et al., 2010; Cheng et al., 2013).

The "National Cropland Monitoring Network" was established since the 1980s, and consisted of more than 300 observation sites including dry croplands and rice paddies. A previous study indicated that most of the sites (79%) showed an increase of SOC in the past 20 years (Cheng et al., 2009). A more recent study showed that a mean increase in topsoil C (0–0.2 m) stock was estimated to be 25.5 Mt C year⁻¹ or 0.20 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ between 1985 and 2006, with a total topsoil C stock increase of 0.64 Gt C over 21 years (Pan et al., 2010).

Given the estimates for the SOC stock top 1 m, the required national sequestration rate according to 4 per 1000 is 360 Mt year⁻¹, corresponding to 0.41 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹. For croplands, the SOC stock in the top 1 m was 13–15 Gt with an average C density of 83–85 t ha⁻¹, accordingly the required sequestration rates would be over 50 Mt year⁻¹ or over 0.35 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹. The C stocks in dry croplands and rice paddies were 10.1 Gt (80 t ha⁻¹) and 2.9 Gt (986 t ha⁻¹), indicating required sequestration rates of 40 Mt year⁻¹ (0.33 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹) and 12 Mt year⁻¹ (0.39 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹).

Most of studies on C sequestration in China focused on the plough layer (0–15 cm for rice paddies and 0–20 cm for dry croplands) (Xie et al., 2007). Table 1 lists the main management practices that are found to be beneficial to sequester carbon in soil in China. In general, the carbon sequestration rates varied from 0.2 to 0.8 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ under different practices. The rates were higher than 0.33 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ (required by 4 per mille) under most practices except for no tillage. However, the projected SOC sequestration potential was usually lower than 50 Mt year⁻¹ mainly because there is still work to be done to expand best management practices in China. Furthermore, the understanding of carbon sequestration in deep soil which may make a considerable contribution is still limited.

Areas that can potentially contribute to sequestration are in north and northwest and southwest China where low soil C density was observed (Song et al., 2005; Cheng et al., 2013). In addition, there was a fast decrease of SOC density in northeast China in the past two decades which made them susceptible to erosion under intensive dryland agriculture (Cheng et al., 2009; Sun et al., 2010). Wang et al. (2015) indicated that soils from the Heilongjiang Province in northeast China could represent a carbon gap, where the C input from the straw returns is inactive.

Improvement of soil organic matter stock has been shown to benefit soil productivity and ecosystem services for China's agriculture (Pan et al., 2014). Reinforcing soil organic matter in croplands has been adopted as a long term action in the national strategy to protect soil health as well as to recycle biomass wastes in agriculture (Ministry of Agriculture of China, Reform and Development Commission of China, Ministry of Science and Technology of China, Ministry of Financing of China, Ministry of Land Resource and Territory of China, Ministry of Environment Protection, Ministry of Water Resources of China and National Bureau of Forestry of China, 2015). For this, a state funded national project was launched in 2016 (Ministry of Agriculture of China and Ministry of Financing of China, MoAC, and MFC, 2016) to enhance the return of crop residues through direct or indirect treatment approaches, among which biochar from straw pyrolysis had been taken into account for increasing soil organic matter in croplands rapidly from North and Northeast China where organic matter has been commonly depleted.

2.13. United States of America

Keith Paustian and Adam Chambers

The US has a great diversity of agricultural production systems spanning a wide range of soil and climatic conditions, making it among the world's largest in terms of both production and land area. Consequently it also produces significant emissions of GHGs from the sector; it's currently estimated that agriculture emits 142 Mt C from all sources combined, overwhelmingly as CH₄ and N₂O, principally from livestock and soil nutrient management (USEPA, 2015).

The potential for US cropland and grassland soils to act as a significant C sink has been discussed for over two decades (e.g., Barnwell et al., 1992; CAST, 2011; Lal et al., 1998; Paustian et al., 1997) and a number of studies have estimated the potential magnitudes for different land uses and changes in practices and policies and using different estimation methods. Most have quantified so-called technical potential, in terms of known practices and mechanisms, assuming deployment of best-management-practices for promoting soil C increases, independent of economic or policy constraints. Aggregate potential estimates are on the order of 50–100 Mt C year⁻¹ for US cropland (Lal et al., 1998; Sperow et al., 2003; Sperow, 2016) and 15–70 Mt C year $^{-1}$ for grazing lands (Conant et al., 2002; Follett et al., 2001, Schuman et al., 2002). It is notable that the majority of these aggregate estimates are several years old and mainly based on first-order methods of average per ha C accrual rates applied to regional or national-scale area totals of available land area. New assessments with more spatially disaggregated data and dynamic models could provide more refined and

informative estimates, particularly if coupled to economic models to assess adoption rates as a function of C prices and impacts on net economic returns.

A variety of existing practices that promote soil C sequestration, via increased C inputs to soil and/or increased stabilization of organic residues in soil, can be more widely applied on US cropland and grasslands (CAST, 2011). Practices on croplands include higher residue crops, increased perennials in rotations, reduced and no-till tillage, cover crops, reduced summer fallow frequency, organic amendments such as manure, compost, biochar (if accounted for on a life cycle basis), conservation plantings (buffer strips, riparian buffers, windbreaks, shelterbelts) and conversion of marginal cropland to grassland or wooded setaside. Grazing land practices include improved grazing systems, legume additions, improved nutrient management and silvapastoral systems. There are a relatively large number of long-term field experiments across the US that provide data on rates of soil C change from adopting these practices and a number of reviews and meta-analyses that characterize and summarize these rates have been published (e.g. Paustian et al., 1997; Ogle et al., 2005; CAST, 2011; Denef et al., 2011; Franzluebbers, 2005; Johnson et al., 2005). However research gaps exist, including limited field data for some practices, underrepresented geographic areas and less data for deeper (>30 cm) soil horizons (Paustian et al., 2016).

With respect to the 4 per mille initiative, the aspirational goals of increasing soil C stocks, providing a sink for CO₂ as well as promoting increased soil health, are in keeping with the US Department of Agriculture (USDA) Climate Change Mitigation Building Blocks and various soil health and conservation programs promoted by USDA's Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS). Chambers et al. (2016) suggest that a 4 per mille increase goal could be achieved when using the current C contents in the top soil (0-20 cm) on managed croplands and grazing lands as the reference stock. That soil C stock, estimated at ca. 17.5 Gt C (USEPA, 2015), would imply a target of ca. 68 Mt C year $^{-1}$ of net sequestration by 2025, which if compounded annually at 0.4% would reach 75 Mt C year⁻¹ by 2050. Achieving these rates with currently recommended soil management practices would require adoption on 25-70% of total US cropland (145 Mha in 2013), varying depending on the combinations of practices and their geographic distribution. Adoption of C sequestering practices on grazing lands could reduce the contribution needed from cropland (Chambers et al., 2016).

Achieving this level of C sequestration would require a greatly increased investment, either from public or private sources. On average about 4 Mha of cropland and 8 Mha of grasslands would need to be enrolled each year, for the next decade, in projects or programs with effective C sequestering practices. In addition, significant investments would be need to monitor, evaluate and adjust these programs over time, requiring a long term commitment to ensure that soil conditions and climate mitigation benefits are attained.

2.14. France

Dominique Arrouays, Manuel Martin, Anne C. Richer-de-Forges, and Vera Leatitia Mulder

Soil organic carbon estimates for different depth layers (0–5 cm, 5– 15 cm, 15–30 cm, 30–60 cm, 60–100 cm and >100 cm) were recently made at 90-m resolution for mainland France, along with their upper and lower confidence intervals (Mulder et al., 2016). The maps were developed using the GlobalSoilMap specifications (Fig. 11, Arrouays et al., 2014). The total SOC stock for mainland France was found to be 6.91 Gt. The majority of carbon was stored in the top 60 cm (5.14 Gt, 74%) of which 3.56 Gt (51%) was stored between 0–30 cm, 1.58 Gt (23%) was stored between 30 and 60 cm and 1.77 Gt (26%) was stored below 60 cm of which 12% below 1 m. Concluding, roughly 49% is stored in the sub and deep soil layers; these findings demonstrate that the SOC stocks in these layers significantly contribute to the total SOC stock for France. SOC is monitored in France at the national level using a systematic network grid (16 km by 16 km; Arrouays et al., 2002a). However, as there has been only one campaign of measurements, it is still an inventory. The second campaign of measurements will begin in 2016. Another source of data is the French soil test database (e.g., Angers et al., 2011; Arrouays et al., 2012; Saby et al., 2008) in which soil tests required by farmers have been stored from 1990. Nowadays, results from more than 2 million samples are available, which allows a reliable calculation of changes (e.g., Saby et al., 2008; Orton et al., 2012a; Chauveau et al., 2014). Most of the changes from 1990 until now were decreases, mainly attributable to changes in land use over the intervening decades.

If we base our estimates on the total area of mainland France (about 500,000 km² excluding urban area), reaching the 4 per mille objective would mean a sequestration rate of 26.6 Mt C year⁻¹ on the whole soil depth, or 14.4 Mt C year⁻¹ for 0–30 cm. This rate of storage represents 0.55 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ for the whole depth or 0.28 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ for the topsoil. The latter sequestration rate should be achievable through changes in land use and agricultural practices (Arrouays et al., 2002b; Métay et al., 2009). Carbon sequestration in deep soils in heterogeneous landscapes is complex due to the different driving factors (Mulder et al., 2015) and so the potential of C sequestration in deep soil still remains unknown.

Areas of SOC sequestration potential have been identified (Angers et al., 2011; Mulder et al., 2015) they are mainly located in intensive cropping areas, such as in Northern France and in the Southwest, and in vineyards and orchards. We believe that the 4 per mille rates are feasible mainly in the cultivated areas of France that are about 20 millions of hectares (Arrouays et al., 2002b). The potential of additional sequestration in forests and grasslands remains more uncertain (Arrouays et al., 2002b; Soussana et al., 2004). However, we must stress that 4 per mille is a finite solution in time and space for climate change mitigation and that long-term solutions to decrease greenhouse gas emissions should remain among the policymakers' priorities.

2.15. Belgium

Bas van Wesemael

Soil C stock in Belgium has been estimated from different studies: Meersmans et al. (2011) for cropland in Flanders (the northern part), Lettens et al. (2005) for forest in Flanders and Wallonia (the southern part) and the methodology of Goidts and van Wesemael (2007) for cropland and grassland in Wallonia. This approach is also followed in the National Inventory report (NIR, National Inventory Report, 2016) where the areas under the different land use types are given. The topsoil (0-0.3 m) C stock amounts to 215 Mt (108 Mt for agricultural land) and to 1 m, 319 Mt (164 Mt for agricultural land). There is a general northwest (North Sea coast) to south-east (Ardennes) increase in C stocks corresponding to an increase in mean elevation with associated decrease in temperature and increase in precipitation. The C stocks are therefore highest in the Ardennes where croplands are limited and the climate conditions favour forest and grassland. The C density in the topsoil ranges from 48 t C ha⁻¹ in croplands on Luvisols in the central loam belt to 113 t C ha⁻¹ in grasslands on stony Cambisols on the plateau of the Ardennes.

A 4 per mille increase in topsoil C across the whole area corresponds to an annual amount of 0.86 Mt – about 0.28 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹. Given the density of the population and the economic activity in a small country like Belgium, it is not surprising that the GHG emissions in 2013 were an order of magnitude larger (32.6 Mt C year⁻¹) than a potential 4 per mille increase of topsoil C (0.86 Mt year⁻¹). In order to achieve the 4 per mille of topsoil SOC sequestration on the 1.63 million ha of agricultural land, an average of 0.53 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ (0.88 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ for cropland only) would be required. Such sequestration rates are unrealistically high compared to the ones found in other European countries (Table 1).

Belgium has a detailed soil map produced from 1950 to 1970, and an extensive legacy data set of 13,000 analyzed profiles. Recent SOC monitoring is based on a re-sampling of ~600 of these profiles in 2005 and 2013 and the use of soil fertility test samples. In the long term (1960-2005), croplands have lost SOC at rates of 0.016 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ in Flanders and 0.06 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ in Wallonia, while grasslands have lost 0.019 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ in Flanders and gained 0.1 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ Wallonia. These differences are explained by changes in agricultural practices such as drainage of grasslands in valley bottoms and increase in organic amendments by intensive livestock breeding (van Wesemael et al., 2010). The first results for the period 2005-2013 in Wallonia show that the SOC in cropland has increased again at rates of 0.6 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹, probably as a result of the widespread introduction of winter cover crops. Walloon grasslands continue to slightly increase their SOC stocks by 0.16 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ (NIR, National Inventory Report, 2016). Carbon contents reach critical values of less than 1 % in croplands of the loam belt in the middle of the country (~0.26 million ha), leading to the loss of aggregate stability, surface crusting and muddy floods after heavy rainfall. These are the areas with the greatest sequestration potential. Intensive livestock breeding in the north has resulted in an excess of N and P contents in most soils, therefore, the possibilities of using external input of organic matter are very limited by strict manure regulation. Agriculture is less intensive in the south-east (Ardennes) dominated by grasslands. However, SOC contents are already large and slightly increasing, and hence, the additional sequestration potential is limited.

2.16. England and Wales

Ben Marchant

Bradley et al. (2005) estimated that in 1990 the total organic carbon stocks in the top 1 metre of soil in England and Wales were 1.74 Gt and 0.34 Gt respectively. These figures correspond to average densities of soil organic carbon of 133 t C ha⁻¹ and 164 t C ha⁻¹. Therefore, to increase these stocks by 0.4% to this depth each year would require annual sequestration of 0.534 t C ha⁻¹ in England and 0.656 t C ha⁻¹ in Wales or an average rate of 0.55 t C ha⁻¹ across the two countries.

Soil policy documents for the UK such as 'Safeguarding our soils – a strategy for England' (Defra, 2009), the 'Natural Environment White Paper' (Anon, 2011) and the 'Soil Health' report of the Environmental Audit Committee (House of Commons Environmental Audit Committee, 2016) highlight the need to protect and enhance soil carbon stocks. The white paper aims to reduce the annual consumption of peat by the horticulture industry in England from 2.4 million cubic metres to zero by 2030. This would equate to an annual saving of more than 0.1 Mt of carbon per year (Milne and Brown, 1997). However, the majority of the stocks of carbon in peat are found in Scottish rather than English or Welsh soils (Milne and Brown, 1997). The 'Safeguarding our Soils' document acknowledges that further research is required to determine the best methods to boost soil carbon stocks.

Bhogal et al. (2009) reviewed best practice for managing soil organic matter in lowland agriculture. Conversion from tillage systems to permanent grassland, the introduction of woodland, growing biomass crops and the introduction of rotational grass could all lead to substantial initial carbon sequestration rates but the stocks would settle to a new equilibrium after 50–100 y. These practices would also lead to a loss of agricultural production and would require financial incentives for land owners. Bhogal et al. (2009) also noted that reductions in soil erosion, better tillage and additions of organic matter had the potential to enhance soil carbon stocks but further work was required to quantify the benefits of these approaches on different soil types.

The majority of studies investigating the extent to which land management practices can enhance soil carbon stocks have used long-term experiments such as the Rothamsted Classical Experiments (Blair et al., 2006) which tend to be conducted on relatively productive soils. Powlson et al. (2012) reviewed the results of UK studies and found that a change from conventional to reduced tillage could increase carbon stocks by 0.31 ± 0.18 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ and that the addition of biosolids to soils at the maximum rate permitted in UK Nitrate Vulnerable Zones (S.I., 2008) could lead to annual increases in SOC of 0.63 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ for farm manures, 1.5 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ for digested biosolids and 1.4 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ for green compost. Typical applications of cereal straw and paper crumble could lead to annual increases of 0.375 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ and 1.8 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ respectively. However, they warned that these benefits were unlikely to be realised since (i) many farmers were practicing rotational tillage and any carbon gains from reduced tillage could be lost during the ploughing phase (ii) the management changes might lead to increased N₂O emissions which could counteract the carbon benefits (iii) the benefits would disappear with time as the carbon stocks reached a new equilibrium (iv) farmers were already applying biosolids to soils so these were not wholly new benefits (v) the biosolids might only be available locally as the byproducts of specific industries and (vi) the reported gains in carbon might merely reflect its redistribution between different depths. Similarly, Mangalassery et al. (2014) emphasised the importance of taking a holistic view of the fluxes of greenhouse gasses when estimating the benefits of zero tillage. Powlson and Johnston (2015) estimated that a switch from continuous arable farming to ley farming could increase carbon stocks in sandy and silty clay loam soils by up to $0.2 \text{ t C ha}^{-1} \text{ year}^{-1}$ but this of course would be at the cost of reduced arable production.

Whitmore et al. (2015) reviewed novel technologies that could be used to increase soil carbon storage. They concluded that some of these such as (i) the use of polyphenols to complex carbon or inhibit the enzymes that decompose it, (ii) the use of the methods of physical protection that operate in the subsoil in both the topsoil and subsoil and (iii) mineral carbonation all have potential for widespread application and reasonably rapid benefits. However, these technologies are not sufficiently developed for the potential benefits to be quantified.

Any soil carbon sequestration that is achieved should be verified through soil monitoring. There are two national-scale soil monitoring networks with coverage across England and Wales that have been sampled more than once. The National Soil Inventory (Bellamy et al., 2005) and the Countryside Survey (Reynolds et al., 2013) both observed declines in carbon stocks within arable soils between the late 1970s and the 2000s but there are no plans to conduct further phases of these surveys (House of Commons Environmental Audit Committee, 2016). These surveys only consider topsoils and Gregory et al. (2014) conclude that there is very little evidence of whether subsoil stocks are changing.

2.17. Ireland

Sharon O'Rourke

Total land area in Ireland is 6.9 million ha. The national C stock is estimated as 2.824 Gt for mineral soil and peat soil to depths greater than 1 m (Khalil et al., 2013). Including all land use types (arable, forest, grassland, heterogeneous agricultural area, peatland, suburban and wetland), topsoils are estimated to contain 0.888 Gt C and soils to a depth of 1 m, 1.832 Gt C. Spatial distributions of soil C stocks show the highest soil C densities (1000 to >1500 t C ha⁻¹) reflect raised bogs that stretch from the Midlands up through the north-west region. Higher altitude along the western seaboard produce blanket peat of C between 250 and 1000 t C ha⁻¹ and uplands on the East Coast >250 t C ha⁻¹. The majority of mineral soils have between 100 and 250 t C ha⁻¹, but in the Midlands soil C densities are low, up to 100 t C ha⁻¹, where podzols or shallow brown earths dominate (Tomlinson, 2005).

Focusing on agriculture and forestry land covers, 5.3 million ha is grassland, arable (4.3 and 0.4 million ha, respectively; Khalil et al., 2013) and forest (0.5 million ha; Eaton et al., 2008) land use. Soil C stock is estimated as 728 Mt in the top 0.3 m and 1306 Mt in the 1 m depths (Khalil et al., 2013; Eaton et al., 2008). An increase of 4 per

mille in soil C stock translates into an increase of 2.9 Mt C year⁻¹ or about 0.5 t C ha⁻¹ in topsoils. If soil depth to 1 m is considered, 5.2 million tonnes of soil C is required to meet the national target or double the rate per hectare at 1.0 tonne year⁻¹. In the most recent greenhouse gas inventory report (Duffy et al., 2015), CO₂ emissions from the energy sector (fossil fuel emissions) were estimated at 35 Mt C year⁻¹. The resulting ratio of C emissions over soil C stock is 3% and 5% for the two soil depths, 10-fold the global rate.

Irish agriculture is predominantly grass-based. The second largest GHG emissions sector (32.2 %) after the Energy sector (60.8 %), GHGs are projected to increase a further 7 % (between 2014 and 2020) assuming growth targets for agri-food, fisheries and forestry are achieved. An appraisal of carbon-neutrality for Irish agriculture proposes an 'accelerated sequestration' pathway based on the mechanisms; (1) enhancing C sequestration rates in grasslands, (2) stimulating C sequestration in permanent arable soils and (3) planting of new forests, involving land use change (Schulte et al., 2013). In general, it is assumed that grassland and forestry are carbon sinks, cropland is carbon neutral while peatland/wetland is a C source.

Achievable sequestration rates in Ireland indicate the 4 per mille rate is possible (i.e. 0.6, 0.4 and 0.6 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ for grassland, arable and forestry, respectively). Ireland already has relatively high soil C concentrations, ranging from 32 to 63 g kg⁻¹ (Kiely et al., 2010; Xu et al., 2011) and for well-managed swards C sequestration can vary between 1.1 and 1.4 t C ha⁻¹ y⁻¹ (Watson et al., 2007). Management options (i.e. zerotillage, conversion to permanent crops, the addition of slurry or FYM) typically yield 0.4 to 0.6 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ in arable soils (see Smith et al., 2005). Afforestation on mineral soils is dependent on previous land use and soil type. For example, afforested pasture suggests a significant loss of soil C in brown earth soils, whereas grey/brown podzolic and particularly gley soils accumulate soil C (Black et al., 2014). Afforestation of grassland has achieved 2.2 to 2.5 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ over the first 16 y of rotation (Sitka Spruce on gley soils) dropping to 0.2 t C ha^{-1} year⁻¹ after 16 y (Black et al., 2009). Less the opportunity to increase C stocks but rather to mitigate C losses is to prevent further drainage of high organic C soils. Peatland/wetland is considered a C source due to widespread historical (pre-1990) drainage of organic soils (O'Reilly et al., 2012).

In Ireland, LULUCF is reported under the Tier 1 method (IPCC, 2006). The Irish Soil Information System has recently produced a new complete map of soils in Ireland. It is hoped that a revision of the attribution of soil type and soil C, and land use will produce Tier 2 country specific values for soil C stock and management factors in the coming years. Until revised soil C stocks are made available it is difficult to ascertain critical limits of soil C stock.

2.18. Scotland

Laura Poggio and Alessandro Gimona

Scotland's soils are very diverse, from mineral alluvial soils to peats with different pressures and demands, especially in the context of climate change. In Scotland, the area with the capability to support intensive agriculture is likely to expand (Gimona et al., 2015, Brown et al., 2011), and therefore soil carbon might decline where land use is converted to arable. Peatlands can act as a source or sink of carbon depending on their condition. Peatlands that are cultivated for agriculture can release as much as 6.5 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹. Peatlands, in good condition, however, retain their stored carbon and can sequester around 0.2 to $0.8 \text{ t C ha}^{-1} \text{ year}^{-1}$ (Artz et al., 2014). Scotland has about 60% of the UK's peatlands and 4% of Europe's total peat carbon store (UKCC, UK Committee on Climate Change Adaptation Sub-committee, 2011). Today around 1.8 million ha (over 20% of Scotland's land area) is covered by blanket bogs alone (JNCC, Joint Nature Conservation Committee, 2011). Their condition, therefore, will be a key for their ability to increase total carbon stocks in Scotland.

Different estimates of Scottish soil carbon stocks exist based on different methods, e.g. a traditional approach (Chapman et al., 2013, Lilly and Baggaley, 2013), a machine learning (Aitkenhead and Coull, 2016) and a hybrid generalised additive model (GAM) geostatistical 3D model (Poggio and Gimona, 2014). While considering the geostatistical approach (Fig. 12) the average stock is 429 t C ha⁻¹ (3.14 Gt) of which 300 t C ha⁻¹ (0.704 Gt) in mineral soils, 461 t C ha⁻¹ (1.57 Gt) in organo-mineral and 561 t C ha⁻¹ (0.8 Gt) in organic soils. However, there is a rather large modelling uncertainty around these values even without considering different estimates due to different approaches. The traditional and geostatistical approaches (Baggaley et al., 2016) were compared providing similar estimates with spatial differences especially when considering the uncertainty.

Given that Scottish soils are in general carbon-rich, to achieve a 4 per mille increase in C sequestration, the soil carbon stock would need to be increased by 12.56 Mt (about $1.7 \text{ t C ha}^{-1} \text{ year}^{-1}$). This seems like a very ambitious target for Scottish soils (see e.g. Smith et al., 2010) especially if the predicted expansion of agricultural land, due to climatic amelioration, is realized (Gimona et al., 2015). Scotland has numerous policies for soil and peat conservation and to increase carbon stocks to mitigate climate change (e.g. The Scottish Soil Framework, The Land Use Strategy). In order to move towards the 4 per mille goal, policies need to be implemented to manage contrasting demands and pressures, such as reducing peatland degradation, forest, and agricultural expansion.

2.19. Canada

Denis A. Angers and Brian G. McConkey

Canada has a total land area of 998.5 Mha which contain 72.2 Gt of C to a depth of 30 cm (Tarnocai, 1998). A total of 55.2 Mha of land is currently used for agriculture which contains about 4.14 Gt C to a depth of 30 cm and 5.5 Gt to 100 cm. As about 80% of agricultural land is located in the Canadian Prairies, most (approximately 88%) SOC is also found in Prairie soils, which are mostly (C-rich) Chernozemic soils developed under grassland.

Based on an extensive national network of long-term field experiments and a long history of applied and fundamental research, Canada has developed a deep understanding of the nature and dynamics of the organic C of its agricultural soils, their spatial distribution and response to management practices. Several management practices have been shown to increase SOC such as reducing summer fallowing, adopting no till, including more perennial crops in the rotations, returning crop residues, improving degraded lands, etc. Many of these management practices may result in gain varying from 0.1 to 0.5 t C ha year⁻¹ (VandenBygaart et al., 2003, 2008), which is in the range of values corresponding to a 4 per mille increase in SOC. So the 4 per mille increase is indeed achievable locally in Canada. However, these effects vary with soil and climatic conditions. For example, no till may have a lower potential to store SOC in eastern Canada than in the Prairies (VandenBygaart et al., 2003).

Canada estimates that agricultural lands currently (the year 2013) remove 11 Mt of CO_2 which represents about 2% of the total national GHG emissions (Environment Canada, 2015). This is largely due to a reduction in the use of summer fallow and increases adoption of no-till in the Canadian Prairies. However, the removal of CO_2 through soil C sequestration is starting to decline (down from 13 Mt in 2005 for example) as the legacy effects of these practices are starting to decrease and a new equilibrium is reached.

The idea that degraded soils probably offer the greatest potential for SOC improvement, and would also be those that would benefit most from it, is central to the concept of the 4 per mille initiative. Based on the indicator of state and trends for soil organic matter for Canada (Cerkowniak and McConkey, 2016), we estimated that of the 55.2 Mha of land currently used for agriculture, 4.2 Mha are severely degraded and 12.3 Mha are moderately degraded with respect to SOC.



Fig. 13. Soil C stock (0–30 cm) as a function of latitude. Grey dots are data from the global soil carbon map (Fig. 2). Black squares are reported soil C stocks for regions in this study plotted on their centroid latitudes.

Changes in agricultural practices are estimated to be increasing SOC on 1.4 and 8.9 Mha of those severely and moderately degraded soils, respectively. Therefore, the lands with the greatest potential and priority for improved land management practices to reduce further SOC loss and actually increase SOC are the 2.8 Mha of severely degraded soils and 3.4 Mha of moderately degraded soils where SOC is not estimated to be increasing. This represents about 11.2% of Canada's agricultural land. There is additional 5.0 Mha of land where SOC is not considered degraded but are currently estimated to be losing SOC. There are opportunities to reduce and reverse the SOC loss on this 9.1% of Canada's agricultural land. There would be limited opportunities to further increase SOC on the remaining 79.7% of Canada's agricultural land without fundamental changes to land use or type of agricultural production.

2.20. Russia

Igor Savin and Vladimir Stolbovoy

The soils of Russia store 164 Gt C in the top 0.3 m, and 292 Gt C in the top 1 m. The currently observed rise in temperature and precipitation in Russia leads to a sequestration rate of 72 ± 32 Mt C annually in the soils of tundra, forest-steppe, steppe, and semi-desert natural zones (Stolbovoy and Ivanov, 2014).

The arable and pasture soils occupy about 12% of the country containing 16.8 Gt C in the upper 0.3 m and 28.0 Gt C in upper 1 m. Historically, agricultural practices have resulted in the loss of 2.6 Gt C on croplands and 0.5 Gt C on pastures in the top 0.3 m (Stolbovoi, 2003). The total loss of C from 0.3–1.0 m is about 1.5 Gt C. The conversion of cropland into grasslands and forests since 1990 caused sequestration of 0.8 Gt C. Thus, the total potential C-sink of agricultural soils is about 3.6 Gt C with reference to the baseline of C pool under natural ecosystems in Russia. In relation to the 4 per mille target, the agricultural soils should accumulate 4.4 Mt C, which corresponds to the sequestration rate of 0.16 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ for cropland.

Nearly 85% of the C loss in Chernozems and Kastanozems is caused by cultivation. The loss can be compensated by crop selection, implementation of crop rotation with grasses and legumes, multiple uses of crop residues, application of organic fertilizers, precision farming, etc. About 15% of C loss is caused by soil erosion, which can be regulated by minimizing runoff, conservation tillage etc. All above-mentioned measures will be enough to achieve the 4 per mille target in Russia.

Russia has a long tradition to maintain C balance in agricultural soils such as C-conservation crop rotations, application of organic fertilizers, liming etc. The current C-related land policy includes State Monitoring of Agricultural Land and Criteria of Soil Fertility Depletion. In addition, there are many State technical regulations concerning protection and conservation of C content in soils. The Ministry of Agriculture of Russia has a special program for soil fertility (including soil C content) monitoring. In the framework of this program, one-fifth of agricultural soils in Russia is observed yearly.

3. Discussion

Soil carbon has a high spatial variation with increasing variation from field to regional, continental, and global extent (Kerry et al., 2012; McBratney and Pringle, 1999; Scharlemann et al., 2014). SOC stock fluctuates with latitude and longitude with greater stocks at higher latitudes, decreases in the mid-latitudes, and increases in the humid tropics (Fig. 13). The high value in the humid tropics (e.g. Indonesia) is due to the high precipitation (Marín-Spiotta and Sharma, 2013) and net primary production (Baccini et al., 2012). While, the high SOC content at high latitudes corresponds to the low temperature regimes.

We examined SOC sequestration potential from 20 countries and regions to provide a global snapshot of soil carbon conditions. Most countries are optimistic on the 4 per mille initiative and showed efforts and scopes for soil carbon sequestration. Lal (2016) posed some challenges for the 4 per mille initiative, including: paucity of scientific data, the finite capacity of soil carbon sinks, permanence, resource-poor farmers and small landholders, financial commitments, and implementation. These challenges are also reflected in the case studies. Here, we discuss several general potentials and challenges emerging from the regional narratives, summarised in Table 2.

3.1. Not all lands can sequester carbon

Table 1 is a compilation of potential and actual SOC sequestration rates after the adoption of best management practices from various regions in the world. Some data are based on long-term experiments, some are inferred from the literature, and thus there is a certain amount of uncertainty in these data. Most reported sequestration rates are from the top soil or plough layer (0–0.3 m, or even only to 0.1 m).

The 4 per mille initiative was based on a blanket calculation of the whole global 2 m profile C stock, which amounts to an annual sequestration rate of 9.6 Gt C. However the potential to increase SOC is mostly on managed agricultural lands. If we consider top 1 m of 3900 to 4900 Mha of global agricultural land, its SOC stock estimate is between 480 to 790 Gt, and 4 per mille of this stock is 1.9-3.1 Gt C. This effectively can offset between 20–35% of global GHG emissions. Fig. 2 shows an estimate of global topsoil SOC stock distribution.

Table 2 lists SOC stocks in agricultural areas and also the potentials and limitations in the regions. The 4 per mille targets agricultural lands to increase their sequestration rate. Some countries (e.g. Australia) have large agricultural areas with great potential to increase SOC stock, while in other countries, the total area available for cropping is limited (e.g. Belgium, S. Korea). In regions with high inherent SOC content, it may prove difficult to further increase their C levels, as these areas may already have reached equilibrium with current practices. Conversely, in regions with low (inherent) SOC (e.g. India), it can also be difficult to increase the C content, as high temperature enhances decomposition, and the removal or burning of crop residues are still

Table 2

A summary of soil organic C stocks in different countries/regions and the potential and challenges in implementing the 4 per mille initiative. The table is arranged by the country's centroid latitude.

Country/rogion	Controid	Total	Total coil	Agricultural	Soil C stock in	Potontials	Challenges
Country/region	latitude	land area	organic C stock 0–30 cm (Gt)	area (Mha)	agricultural land (Gt)	rotentiais	Chanenges
		(Mha)					
New Zealand	_	26.8	2.66	15.1	1.59	Improved management of grasslands: increased root inputs of C: targeting	Inherently high C soils. C loss in drained peats, overgrazing, soil
	41.814					specific soil types (e.g. allophanic soils), and/or specific landscape positions; establishment and reestablishment of wetlands.	erosion in upland areas when converted to pasture.
Chile	— 35.816	69	5.52	3.2	0.14	Afforesting degraded areas and conserving native forest and peatlands	Peatland conversion, limited cropping areas
South Africa	_ 29.051	121.3	7.03	115	6.68	Improved practices on rangeland (savannahs and natural and semi-natural grasslands)	Land degradation on rangelands
Australia	— 25.848	769	25	455	12.76	Large agricultural land area, optimization of crop rotations, and retention of crop residues, improved grassland management.	Lack of water, zero or minimum tillage has been implemented almost 80% in the grain cropping areas.
Tanzania	-6.396	94.5	4.44	31.2	1.39	Adoption of improved agricultural management practices and land restoration options. Technologies to reduce soil erosion.	Land degradation, intensification pressure and converting marginal land into agricultural/cropland
Indonesia	- 1.656	190	Mineral: 9.9 Peat (whole profile): 33.7	60	Mineral: 3.0 ^a	Avoid deforestation, Paddy rice with straw return, well-managed plantation.	C loss in drained peats and fire. Very little data on C sequestration potential.
Kenya	0.422	58.1	2.4	17.8	0.76	Adoption of improved agricultural management practices and land restoration options. Technologies to reduce soil erosion.	SOC loss due to rapid expansion of agricultural lands, converting marginal land into agricultural/cropland.
Nigeria	9.585	91	3.12	29	0.97	Use of legumes, fallow periods, plant residues retention, afforestation	Lack of reliable data
India	22.932	328.7	9.55	147	3.15	Plantations on degraded lands, return residues on cropping area, promotion of pulses.	Inherently low C soils, moderate to high rainfall and high temperature.
China Taiwan	23.645	3.6	0.15	0.8	0.038	A high sequestration rate under best management practices	Topography limits area for cropping, lack of C sequestration rates
South Korea	36.448	9.2	0.223	2.24	0.087	Paddy fields with balanced fertilisation and straw return can sequester soil C.	Decreasing and limited agricultural lands.
China Mainland	36.591	959.7	48.6	528	27.4	Conservation tillage and straw return, balanced fertilization.	Lack of C sequestration data on subsoil, not all cropping areas are under best management practices
United States of America ^b	45.625	702	54.5	436	30.3	Improved crop rotations, cover crops and reduced bare fallow, conservation tillage, improved grazing systems, set-aside of marginal lands	Incentivizing producers, more limited options in arid and semi-arid regions
France	46.531	50	3.56	30	1.95	Soil carbon monitoring network allows C gain and loss to be calculated, changes in land use and best agricultural practices	High soil sealing rate by urbanisation and infrastructures
Canada	62.50	998.5	72.2	55.2	4.14	Reducing summer fallowing, adopting no-till, including more perennial crops in the rotations, returning crop residues, improving degraded lands	Further development and implementation of innovative land use and management practices to improve degraded land.
Belgium	50.662	3.05	0.215	1.63	0.108	Improve management in degraded croplands	A small area with high population density, additional sequestration may not be feasible in areas that are already high in SOC
England & Wales	53.163	13.04 2.08	England: 1.0 Wales: 0.19	England: 8.9	England: 0.82 Wales: 0.11	A large proportion of well-managed agricultural land where carbon sequestration strategies can be applied.	Expansion of intensive agriculture, requires more evidence about the long-term effectiveness of carbon sequestration strategies for a
(Tures		2100	Traicor orro	Wales: 1.8	traicor orri	sequestiation strategies can be appread	range of farming systems and soil types
Ireland	53.887	6.9	0.89	5.3	0.73	Enhancing C sequestration rates in grasslands, stimulating C sequestration in permanent arable soils and planting of new forests	Drainage of organic soils, lack of soil C sequestration data, forestry expansion competes with grass & arable land
Scotland	56.400	8	Total: 1.16 Peats (up to 1 m): 0.8	5.6	0.33	Reducing peatland degradation, forest, and agricultural expansion	A large area of peatlands, expansion of intensive agriculture
Russia	61.699	1710	164	205	16.8	Best management practices on croplands, conversion of cropland into grasslads and forests	C loss through cultivation.

^a Estimates based on percentage of agricultural land. ^b Total areas are sum of cropland, pasture/hay, rangeland and forest in the conterminous 48 states from the 2010 USDA Natural Resource Inventory survey; agricultural land area excludes forest land area. SOC stocks are from the 2013 USDA Rapid C Assessment.

50

frequently practiced. The effort here is to make sure that a critical C input is required to maintain the SOC stocks (net change = 0) (Mandal, 2011).

Organic soils pose a vast problem in many countries (Chile, Scotland, Ireland, New Zealand, and Indonesia). The C content in peats is mostly not going to increase by 4 per mille even under natural conditions. The challenge is to ensure that these areas are carbon neutral with efforts in restoration of natural vegetation in peatlands.

3.2. Management strategies

It has been established that there are management techniques which facilitate build-up of organic matter (Table 1, see also Paustian et al., 2016). Although sequestration rates varied between countries and climatic conditions, there is a trend on types of management and SOC accumulation rates: afforestation (~0.6 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹), conversion to pasture (~0.5 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹), organic amendments (~0.5 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹), residue incorporation (~0.35 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹), no or reduced till (~0.3 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹), and crop rotation (~0.2 t C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹).

Reported SOC sequestration rates generally show that under best management practices, 4 per mille or even higher sequestration rates can be accomplished. Data from Table 1 drawn on Fig. 14 indicated that there is a tendency of a higher C sequestration potential (10–30 per mille) on croplands with low initial SOC stock (topsoil \leq 30 t C ha⁻¹). Sequestration rates on grasslands which already have a high initial SOC stock (topsoil >60 t C ha⁻¹) are limited to 4 per mille. In addition, the number of years after management practices have been applied is also important (Fig. 15). The data show that within the first 5 years sequestration rate can be up to 20 per mille.

Reduced or conservation or no tillage has been one of the most important land management systems that sought to increase SOC (e.g. Lal, 2003). Many researchers reported significant increases in topsoil carbon stocks under reduced tillage practices in combination with crop residue retention. In addition, conservation management practices also reduce direct emissions through lower use of fuel, and improved soil physical, chemical, and biological properties. However, the benefit of soil C stock increase has now been scaled back as it has been widely observed that SOC stocks do not necessarily increase under reduced tillage methods when greater soil depths are investigated (Baker et al., 2007; Du et al., 2017; Dimassi et al., 2014; Piccoli et al., 2016; Powlson et al., 2014; VandenBygaart and Angers, 2006). The calculated increases in carbon stocks under reduced tillage were largely based on topsoil or plough layer (Baker et al., 2007). When SOC at deeper depths is accounted for (>40 cm), studies have shown that there is no significant difference between reduced and conventional tillage (Blanco-Canqui and Lal, 2008, Piccoli et al., 2016; Powlson et al., 2014). Nevertheless, studies such as by Syswerda et al. (2011) from a long term-experiment in Southwest Michigan, USA, found that although there were no significant differences in SOC at depth, and the C gains in the surface soils of no-till were not offset by change at depth. In addition, SOC at depths spatially is more variable making such statistical inference more uncertain (Syswerda et al., 2011). There are also other obvious benefits of reduced tillage beside SOC stocks, i.e. the quality of organic matter, enhanced structural stability and increased microbial diversity and activities (Devine et al., 2014; Palm et al., 2014; Piccoli et al., 2016). A recent review by Zuber and Villamil (2016) showed that microbial biomass and enzyme activities were greater under no-till compared to tillage.

In the context of soil carbon to mitigate climate change, there is a consensus that SOC sequestration is only "true" if management practice causes an additional net transfer of C from the atmosphere to land (Powlson et al., 2011). SOC accrual could be just an avoided emission, when compared with conventional management techniques (Sanderman and Baldock, 2010). Afforestation and conversion of arable

Fig. 14. Initial soil C stock and reported per mille sequestration based on studies in

Fig. 14. Initial soil C stock and reported per mille sequestration based on studies in different regions reported in Table 1. The red curve is a regression model fitted to the data, the shaded areas are the 95% confidence interval of the model, the dotted line is the required 4 per mille, red diamonds refer to cropping land, green dots are grassland, and blue stars are forestry/plantation. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

land to pasture at its initial stage leads to the highest SOC sequestration rate as evidenced globally. This constitutes "true" sequestration according to Powlson et al. (2011), as soil's initial condition under cropland has a much smaller C stock. Pasture in particular has a higher root to shoot ratio. However, converting croplands to forest or grassland will reduce food production, additional GHG (N_2O and CH_4) emissions related to the grazing ruminant animals, adding to the pressure of the required increase in food production. There is a suggestion that afforestation or pasture conversion should be strategized to least productive areas or re-vegetation of degraded lands (Powlson et al., 2011). Improving pasture management on overgrazed grasslands also leads to higher SOC sequestration (Badgery et al., 2014).

Plantation crops are usually blamed for losing soil carbon (van Straaten et al., 2015), however best management practices on these

Fig. 15. Reported per mille sequestration rate as a function of number of years since management practices been implemented. Data are based on studies in different regions reported in Table 1. Red curve is a regression model fitted to the data with 95% confidence interval presented as shaded areas. Red diamonds refer to cropping land, green dots are grassland, and blue stars are forestry/plantation. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)



plantations can actually sequester soil carbon at the same rate as native forests (Khasanah et al., 2015). There is another argument that this sequestration is negated as the plantation is an outcome of deforestation with a carbon debt (Gibbs et al., 2008); nevertheless, looking in the future, avoiding further deforestation and well-established plantations should be able to sequester C.

Cropping management strategies that are based on exogenous C inputs (via addition of compost or manure, or biochar sourced elsewhere) also require additional energy, cost, and resources which may not be feasible. There has also been an interest in composting urban waste for use as soil amendment in urban agricultural areas for SOC sequestration and nutrient cycling. A study by Paetsch et al. (2016) showed that two years after treatments in a cropping area in France showed no SOC stock changes for municipal solid waste compost amended soils, however application of composts from organic waste and green waste and sewage sludge increased SOC stocks in a similar range as conventional farmyard manure. The increased C storage in the clay fractions of the soil amended with organic wastes and green waste and sewage sludge compost and farmyard manure may be improved by a better microbial efficiency leading to C sequestration as microbial compounds.

Powlson et al. (2011) argued that C sequestration resulting from organic amendments depends on the fate of the material. It can be just a transfer from one terrestrial C pool to another, and thus has no influence on mitigating climate change. In Canada and France, manure application is currently not considered as a climate change mitigation measure. All manure is already applied to soil and therefore no additional sequestration of SOC is expected compared to the default condition. Research in India by Pathak et al. (2011) argued that manure application in a farm, which otherwise will be used, recycled or discarded elsewhere, increased soil productivity, crop yield, and thus contributed to carbon sequestration. The application of straw or crop residues in soil which would otherwise be removed from the field or burnt constitutes C sequestration. Application of additional inorganic fertilizer which enhances crop growth, and thus additional C sequestration, needs to consider the additional energy and greenhouse gases associated with them. The SOC change maybe an avoided emission.

In situ management strategies (Smith et al., 2008), such as stubble retention, reduced tillage and crop rotation are possible options. Conservation methods, such as the use of nitrogen-fixing legumes, in addition to no-till practices increase carbon sequestration. In Australia, pastures and legumes rotated in a ley farming system were found to sequester C at a rate of $0.26 \text{ t C ha}^{-1} \text{ year}^{-1}$ when no till and stubble retention were practiced (Chan et al., 2011). A 40-year study in a semiarid subtropical region in Australia showed that crop residue retention, with moderate rate of N fertilizer application under no-tillage provides an optimum management practice for crop yields and SOC management in the soil (Dalal et al., 2011). Nevertheless, a survey by Llewellyn and D'Emden (2009) for grain growers in Australia, found that the no-till practice has already been adopted by more than 70%, and in many areas it has reached near 90%. There is a challenge to find the next step innovation that can boost SOC.

Any increase in soil carbon, even only in the topsoil, should benefit cropping soil, which has lost half of its carbon since being used for cultivation in Australia and other parts of the world (Luo et al., 2010). Increasing SOC promotes soil structure, and leads to a more productive soil and increased crop yield (Stockmann et al., 2015).

3.3. Time

SOC is dynamic and can follow the so-called "transition curve" following clearance of natural vegetation for cropland (van Noordwijk et al., 2014). At the first stage there is a rapid decline of soil carbon due to clearing, this is followed by a critical phase of diminished soil fertility and finally by recovery once agricultural practices improve (Minasny et al., 2011) (Fig. 16). Sequestration rates are high during initial years when best management practices have been applied (Fig. 15) and



Fig. 16. SOC sequestration rate following conversion of native vegetation to high-intensity cropping, a degraded state, and a positive sequestration following improved soil management for a tropical system (based on Minasny et al., 2011).

decline as time progresses as soil has reached equilibrium. Thus, sequestration rates are most efficient following a restoration of degraded lands or a radical soil management. Topsoil can respond rapidly to soil management and build-up soil carbon.

Nevertheless, the permanence of the carbon is still being debated (Wheeler, 2014; He et al., 2016). Ideally, it is desired to convert input organic matter into passive pools with longer residence time. Chan et al. (2001) showed the presence of a relatively higher proportion (65%) of SOC in the labile pools and a smaller proportion in the passive pools in semiarid areas of Australia. Mid Infrared technology has been shown to be able to measure inert or stable C (Janik et al., 2007) or other physical fractions (Henaka Arachchi et al., 2016) which has potential for future SOC assessment.

3.4. Critical limit & Capacity

Some authors suggest that soil has a limited capacity to accumulate carbon (Loveland and Webb, 2003), and that SOC saturation depends on clay and silt content (Hassink, 1997, Six et al., 2002). Conversely, there is also a critical C concentration, below which a soil's function is reduced significantly. It was hypothesised that there is a critical limit and saturation level which depends on soil texture and climatic condition (Stockmann et al., 2015). For example, the reported critical limit of SOC concentration in tropical soil is 1.1% (Aune and Lal, 1997), however most cropping soils in tropical regions of India have SOC levels of 0.5% or lower. The SOC saturation level in India was calculated to be 4 times lower than the relationships proposed by Hassink (1997). The challenge is to work out these critical levels and C saturation levels so that we can estimate the soil carbon saturation deficit (the difference between the theoretical SOC saturation value and the current SOC content) to identify hot spots and realisable C sequestration potential.

3.5. Paucity of data

There will always be lack of data for verification. However there are countries with well-established soil information systems, detailed estimates of sequestration rate potential (e.g. USA) and an established monitoring system (e.g. France). However in most countries, sequestration rates are mostly based on long-term experiments and soil legacy data. Thus a global effort on monitoring soil carbon would be beneficial in obtaining the global soil conditions, SOC sequestration potential, and rate of changes. While this may be seen to be a huge task, progress in



Fig. 17. Potential interactions between scientists, farmers, policy makers, and marketeers engaged in implementation of soil C 4 per mille initiative.

digital mapping and technology coupled with advanced sampling design allows us to gather enough information to be able to make statistically reliable estimates. For example, an optimal spatial sampling design by De Gruijter et al. (2016) could be applied globally using digital maps from the GlobalSoilMap project.

3.6. Implementation

Paustian et al. (2016) suggested ways to incentivise farmers to adopt management practices that can increase soil carbon via regulation and taxation, subsidies, supply-chain initiatives and carbon market. A means to facilitate and reward good management practices to sequester soil carbon is to treat it as a tradeable resource. A monetary value has been assigned to carbon, in all its states and forms, which allow for the trading and offsetting of carbon budgets. The development of carbon credit markets accessible to the private sector would allow for incentives such as government payments, tax credits, and/or emissions trading, which can aid in overcoming farmer reluctance to adopting management strategies that increase or maintain soil carbon (Rosenberg and Izaurralde, 2001).

There is still a debate on an efficient way of measuring SOC stock with appropriate statistical confidence for carbon sequestration verification. It is now established that we can monitor changes in soil carbon efficiently and effectively with sufficient statistical confidence. Rather than relying on process-based models with many assumptions, direct measurement can provide empirical evidence. De Gruijter et al. (2016) presented a method for soil carbon auditing. The method is based on stratified random sampling and design-based inference about the amount of sequestered carbon. Stratification, total sample size and sample sizes per stratum are mathematically optimized in conjunction. The criterion used is maximising the expected financial gain for the farmer, given a required level of certainty about the amount of sequestered carbon.

3.7. Disruptive technologies

We have had minimum tillage for 50 years, and if applied well it can achieve 4 per mille in many situations (Table 1). However we need a further scope to enhance SOC sequestration. Areas that have reached equilibrium, but not at saturation level, will not be able to increase their sequestration rate (Fig. 6). Because of small SOC stock gain per unit area when best management practices are applied, the 4 per mille can only offer short-term solutions. A simulation of climate change with increasing CO₂ up to the year 2100 in France by Meersmans et al. (2016) demonstrated that conversions of 100,000 to 200,000 km² of cropland into grassland or forest would be required to offset 10% of climate change induced loss of SOC. Only radical land use change coupled with enhanced C sequestration technology in productive agricultural land uses has the potential to mitigate climate change. Disruptive technologies such as radical soil management (McBratney et al., 2016) are possibilities.

Metting et al. (2001) discussed some of the new technologies for soil carbon sequestration more than 15 years ago which include (1) technology for soil, crop and forest management, (2) exploitation of underutilized land resources and existing biodiversity, (3) plant biotechnology, (4) microbial biotechnology, and (5) chemical technology. Precision technology now has been widely applied, enabling more efficient use of fertiliser and water. However, such technology has not really translated in enhanced soil C sequestration. Plant biotechnologies, include new plant species with greater net primary production and greater root mass and deeper exploration are still not widely available yet (Montes et al., 2011; Rasse et al., 2005; Rumpel and Kögel-Knabner, 2011). In addition, we cannot fully rely on inorganic fertilizers to build up plant biomass. Plants that are able to fix N with a greater water use efficiency are required (Sinclair and Horie, 1989).

Since no till shows accumulation of soil carbon only on topsoil, occasional cultivation to bury the organic matter may enhance C sequestration at depth. Through radical soil management, clay may be added to subsoil or bringing subsoil clay to the surface can rejuvenate soil. This is relevant in Australia, where weathered soil can be rejuvenated costeffectively, and these soils can soak more carbon and lift productivity (McBratney et al., 2016). Hamilton et al. (2016) showed that a subtle soil disturbance to a depth of approximately 300 mm using a specially designed blade loosener, with controlled traffic and no-tillage can stimulate plant growth and stabilise a loosened and deepened root zone. Manipulation of soil microbial community dynamics may also enhance C sequestration (Bailey et al., 2002; McDaniel et al., 2014). Research is warranted to verify the practicality of these systems.

4. Conclusions

The 4 per mille is an ambitious aspiration, however, for the first time this initiative is setting a global goal to promote good soil management that can help mitigate climate change. Agricultural areas hold about 600 Gt of C in their top 1 m of soil. Increasing SOC stocks for all of these areas by 4 per mille (about 2.5 Gt C year⁻¹) can offset about 30% of global greenhouse gases emission. Paustian et al. (2016) calculated a GHG mitigation potential of 2.2 Gt C year⁻¹ for soil management practices. As summarised by Lal (2016) it should be more about the concept than any specific numbers.

Examples showed that there is some scope globally to increase SOC. The challenge for cropping farmers is to find a new generation of practices that will further improve soil condition and deliver increased soil carbon. We need disruptive technologies that can help agricultural practices to soak up more carbon in the soil, create soil security to achieve food security and mitigate climate change. Such technologies should also avoid offsetting effects for different greenhouse gases (Paustian et al., 2016). In addition, the initiative is an opportunity to implement a sound and credible soil carbon auditing protocol for monitoring, reporting, and verifying SOC sequestration which can be fit into national GHG inventory procedures (Chambers et al., 2016).

As a strategy for climate change mitigation, SOC sequestration should be implemented immediately. It buys time over the next ten years whilst other effective sequestration and low carbon technologies will become viable. Progress in 4 per mille requires collaboration and communication between scientists, farmers, policy makers, and marketeers (Fig. 17). Farmers and land managers primarily apply management practices to improve their soil's condition and, in doing so can also contribute to the sequestering of C and mitigating climate change. Scientists provide innovation that can result in enhanced C sequestration, monitor the impact of climate change on SOC, and SOC functioning. Scientists also develop new technologies in measurement, mapping, and auditing to verify SOC sequestration, which is expected by the market to provide confidence in investment. Farmers' SOC sequestration effort provides compliance to the policy makers. This has to be integrated with institutional regulations and policies that facilitate market-based approaches, such as C trading. Soil C 4 per mille can make soils a sustainable resource, not a renewable resource.

Acknowledgements

Budiman Minasny is funded by the ARC Future Fellowship. (FT120100315) Denis A. Angers and Brian G. McConkey are indebted to Darrel Cerkowniak who provided the quantitative estimates of SOC stocks for Canada. Ben Marchant's contribution to this paper is published with the permission of the Executive Director of the British Geological Survey (Natural Environment Research Council). Igor Savin is funded by the RSF (grant 15-16-30007).

References

- Ademe, 2015. Organic carbon in soils. Meeting Climate Change and Food Security Challenges. ADEME, France.
- Aitkenhead, M.J., Coull, M.C., 2016. Mapping soil carbon stocks across Scotland using a neural network model. Geoderma 262, 187–198.
- Ajayi, D.D., Ikporukpo, C.O., 2005. An analysis of Nigeria's environmental vision 2010. J. Environ. Policy Plan. 7, 341–365.
- Akpa, S.I.C., Odeh, I.O.A., Bishop, T.F.A., Hartermink, A.E., Amapu, I.Y., 2016. Total soil organic carbon and carbon sequestration potential in Nigeria. Geoderma 271, 202–215. Angers, D.A., Arrouays, D., Saby, N.P.A., Walter, C., 2011. Estimating and mapping the car-
- bon saturation deficit in French agricultural topsoils. Soil Use Manag. 27, 448–452. Anikwe, M.A.N., 2010. Carbon storage in soils of Southeastern Nigeria under different
- management practices. Carbon Balance Manag. 5, 1–7. Anon, 2011. The Natural Choice: Securing the Value of Nature. The Stationary Office, Nor-
- wich, UK:p. 75 (Available at https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/ uploads/attachment_data/file/228842/8082.pdf).
 Arrouays, D., Jolivet, C., Boulonne, L., Bodineau, G., Saby, N., Grolleau, E., 2002a. Une initia-
- Arrouays, D., Joliver, C., Boulonne, L., Boulneau, G., Saby, N., Grolleau, E., 2002a. Une Initiative nouvelle en France: la mise en place d'un Réseau multi-institutionnel de Mesures de la Qualité des Sols (RMQS). C. R. Acad. Agr. Fr. 88 (5), 93–105.

- Arrouays, D., Balesdent, J., Germon, J.C., Jayet, P.A., Soussana, J.F., Stengel, P., 2002b. Increasing carbon stocks in French agricultural soils? Synthesis of an Assessment Report by the French Institute for Agricultural Research on Request of the French Ministry for Ecology and Sustainable Development. Sci. Assess. Unit for Expertise, INRA, Paris (36 pp)
- Arrouays, D., Marchant, B.P., Saby, N.P.A., Meersmans, J., Orton, T.G., Martin, M.P., Bellamy, P.H., Lark, R.M., Kibblewhite, M., 2012. Generic issues on broad scale soil monitoring schemes: a review. Pedosphere 22, 456–469.
- Arrouays, D., Grundy, M.G., Hartemink, A.E., Hempel, J.W., Heuvelink, G.B.M., Hong, S.Y., Lagacherie, P., Lelyk, G., McBratney, A.B., McKenzie, N.J., Mendonça-Santos, M.D., Minasny, B., Montanarella, L., Odeh, I.O.A., Sanchez, P.A., Thompson, J.A., Zhang, G.L., 2014. GlobalSoilMap: towards a fine-resolution global grid of soil properties. Adv. Agron. 125, 93–134.
- Artz, R., Donnelly, D., Andersen, R., Mitchell, R., Chapman, S., Smith, J., Smith, R., Cummins, R., Balana, B., Cuthbert, A., 2014. Managing and restoring blanket bog to benefit biodiversity and carbon balance a scoping study. Scottish Natural Heritage Commissioned Report.
- Aune, J.B., Lal, R., 1997. Agricultural productivity in the tropics and critical limits of properties of oxisols, ultisols, and alfisols. Trop. Agric. 74, 96–103.
- Baccini, A.G.S.J., Goetz, S.J., Walker, W.S., Laporte, N.T., Sun, M., Sulla-Menashe, D., Hackler, J., Beck, P.S.A., Dubayah, R., Friedl, M.A., Samanta, S., 2012. Estimated carbon dioxide emissions from tropical deforestation improved by carbon-density maps. Nat. Clim. Chang. 2, 182–185.
- Badgery, W.B., Simmons, A.T., Murphy, B.W., Rawson, A., Andersson, K.O., Lonergan, V.E., 2014. The influence of land use and management on soil carbon levels for crop-pasture systems in Central New South Wales, Australia. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 196, 147-157.
- Baggaley, N., Poggio, L., Gimona, A., Lilly, A., 2016. Comparison of traditional and geostatistical methods to estimate and map the carbon content of Scottish soils. In: Zhang, G.-L., Brus, D., Liu, F., Song, X.-D., Lagacherie, P. (Eds.), Digital Soil Mapping Across Paradigms, Scales and Boundaries. Springer.
- Bailey, V.L., Smith, J.L., Bolton, H., 2002. Fungal-to-bacterial ratios in soils investigated for enhanced C sequestration. Soil Biol. Biochem. 34, 997–1007.
- Baker, J.M., Ochsner, T.E., Venterea, R.T., Griffis, T.J., 2007. Tillage and soil carbon sequestration—what do we really know? Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 118, 1–5.
- Banger, K., Tian, H., Tao, B., Lu, C., Ren, W., Yang, J., 2015. Magnitude, spatiotemporal patterns, and controls for soil organic carbon stocks in India during 1901–2010. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 79, 864–875.
- Barnwell, T.O., Jackson, R.B., Elliott, E.T., Burke, I.C., Cole, C.V., Paustian, K., Paul, E.A., Donigian, A., Patwardhan, A., Rowell, A., Weinrich, K., 1992. An approach to assessment of management impacts on agricultural soil carbon. Water Air Soil Pollut. 64, 423–435.
- Basher, L., Betts, H., De Rose, R.C., Lynn, I., Marden, M., McNeill, S., Sutherland, A., Willoughby, J., Page, M., Rosser, B., 2011. Accounting for the Effects of Mass-Movement Erosion on Soil Carbon Stocks in the Soil Carbon Monitoring System: A Pilot Project. Wellington New Zealand, Ministry for the Environment (38 p).
- Batjes, N.H., 1996. Total carbon and nitrogen in the soils of the world. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 47, 151–163.
- Bellamy, P.H., Loveland, P.J., Bradley, R.I., Lark, R.M., Kirk, G.J.D., 2005. Carbon losses from all soils across England and Wales 1978–2003. Nature 437, 245–248.
- Bhattacharyya, T., Pal, D.K., Chandran, P., Ray, S.K., Mandal, C., Telpande, B., 2008. Soil carbon storage capacity as a tool to prioritize areas for carbon sequestration. Curr. Sci. 95, 482–484.
- Bhogal, A., Nicolson, F.A., Rollett, A., Chambers, B.J., 2009. Best practice for managing soil organic matter in agriculture. Project SP08016. Defra, UK.
- Black, K., Creamer, R.E., Xenakis, G., Cook, S., 2014. Improving forest soil carbon models using spatial data and geostatistical approaches. Geoderma 232–234, 487–499.
- Black, K., Byrne, K.A., Mencuccini, M., Tobin, B., Nieuwenhuis, M., Reidy, B., Bolger, T., Saiz, G., Green, C., Farrell, E.T., Osborne, B., 2009. Carbon stock and stock changes across a Sitka spruce chronosequence on surface-water gley soils. Forestry 82, 255–272.
- Blanco-Canqui, H., Lal, R., 2008. No-tillage and soil-profile carbon sequestration: an onfarm assessment. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 72, 693–701.
- Blair, N., Faulkner, R.D., Till, A.R., Poulton, P.R., 2006. Long-term management impacts on soil C, N and physical fertility – Part 1: Broadbalk experiment. Soil Tillage Res. 91, 30–38.
- Bradley, R.I., Milne, R., Bell, J., Lilly, A., Jordan, C., Higgins, A., 2005. A Soil Carbon and Land Use Database for the United Kingdom. 21 pp. 363–369.
- Brown, I., Poggio, L., Gimona, A., Castellazzi, M., 2011. Climate change, drought risk and land capability for agriculture: implications for land-use in Scotland. Reg. Environ. Chang. 11, 503–518.
- Bui, E., Henderson, B., Viergever, K., 2009. Using knowledge discovery with data mining from the Australian Soil Resource Information System database to inform soil carbon mapping in Australia. Glob. Biogeochem. Cycles 23, GB4033.
- Buysse, P., Roisin, C., Aubinet, M., 2013. Fifty years of contrasted residue management of an agricultural crop: impacts on the soil carbon budget and on soil heterotrophic respiration. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 167, 52–59.
- CAST, Follett, R., Mooney, S., Morgan, J., Paustian, K., 2011. Carbon Sequestration and Greenhouse Gas Fluxes in Agriculture: Challenges and Opportunities. Council on Agricultural Science and Technology (CAST), Ames, IA (106 p).
- Campbell, D.I., Wall, A.M., Nieveen, J.P., Schipper, L.A., 2015. Variations in CO₂ exchange for dairy farms with year-round rotational grazing in drained peatlands. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 202, 68–78.
- Smith, W.N., Bentham, M.J., 2016. Soil Organic Matter. In: Cerkowniak, D., McConkey, B.G., Clearwater, R.L., Martin, T., Hoppe, T. (Eds.), Environmental Sustainability of Canadian Agriculture: Agri-Environmental Indicator Report Series – Report #4. Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, Ottawa, ON, pp. 92–100 (In Press).

- Chambers, A., Lal, R., Paustian, K., 2016. Soil carbon sequestration potential of US croplands and grasslands: implementing the 4 per thousand initiative. J. Soil Water Conserv. 71, 68A–74A.
- Chan, K., Bowman, A., Oates, A., 2001. Oxidizible organic carbon fractions and soil quality changes in an oxic paleustalf under different pasture leys. Soil Sci. 166, 61–67.
- Chan, K.Y., Conyers, M.K., Li, G.D., Helyar, K.R., Poile, G., Oates, A., Barchia, I.M., 2011. Soil carbon dynamics under different cropping and pasture management in temperate Australia: results of three long-term experiments. Soil Res. 49, 320–328.
- Chaplot, V., Dlamini, P., Chivenge, P., Manson, A., 2016. High density-short duration grazing to promote carbon sequestration in degraded grassland soils. Geoderma 271, 10–17.
- Chapman, S.J., Bell, J.S., Campbell, C.D., Hudson, G., Lilly, A., Nolan, A.J., Robertson, A.H.J., Potts, J.M., Towers, W., 2013. Comparison of soil carbon stocks in Scottish soils between 1978 and 2009. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 64, 455–465.
- Chauveau, D., Saby, N.P.A., Orton, T.G., Lemercier, B., Walter, C., Arrouays, D., 2014. Large-scale simultaneous hypothesis testing in monitoring carbon content from French soil database: a semi-parametric mixture approach. Geoderma 219–220, 117–124.
- Chen, C.L., Lin, M.L., Guo, H.Y., Chiang, C.F., Liu, T.S., Chu, C.L., 2000. Impact assessment of shifts of land use on soil organic carbon storage of cultivated land in Taiwan. Soil Environ. 3, 363–378 (in Chinese).
- Chen, L., Smith, P., Yang, Y., 2015. How has soil carbon stock changed over recent decades? Glob. Chang. Biol. 21, 3197–3199.
- Cheng, K., Zheng, J., Nayak, D., Smith, P., Pan, G., 2013. Re-evaluating biophysical and technologically attainable potential of topsoil carbon sequestration in China's croplands. Soil Use Manag. 29, 501–509.
- Cheng, K., Pan, G., Tian, Y., Li, L., 2009. Changes in topsoil organic carbon of China's cropland evidenced from the national soil monitoring network. J. Agro-Environ. Sci. 28, 2476–2481 (in Chinese with English summary).
- Conant, R.T., Paustian, K., Elliott, E.T., 2002. Pastureland use in the southeastern U.S.: implications for carbon sequestration. In: Kimble, J.M., Lal, R., Follett, R.F. (Eds.), Agriculture Practices and Policies for Carbon Sequestration in Soil. Lewis Publishers, CRC Press, Boca Raton, Fl., USA, pp. 423–432.
- Conant, R.T., Six, J., Paustian, K., 2003. Land use effects on soil carbon fractions in the southeastern United States. I. Management intensive versus extensive grazing. Biol. Fertil. Soils 38, 386–392.
- D'Haene, K., Sleutel, S., De Neve, S., Gabriels, D., Hofman, G., 2009. The effect of reduced tillage agriculture on carbon dynamics in silt loam soils. Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosyst. 84, 249–265.
- Dalal, R.C., Allen, D.E., Wang, W.J., Reeves, S., Gibson, I., 2011. Organic carbon and total nitrogen stocks in a Vertisol following 40 years of no-tillage, crop residue retention and nitrogen fertilisation. Soil Tillage Res. 112, 133–139.
- De Gruijter, J.J., McBratney, A.B., Minasny, B., Wheeler, I., Malone, B.P., Stockmann, U., 2016. Farm-scale soil carbon auditing. Geoderma 265, 120–130.
- De Rose, R.C., 2013. Slope control on the frequency distribution of shallow landslides and associated soil properties, North Island, New Zealand. Earth Surf. Process. Landf. 38, 356–371.
- Dechert, G., Veldkamp, E., Anas, I., 2004. Is soil degradation unrelated to deforestation? Examining soil parameters of land use systems in upland Central Sulawesi, Indonesia. Plant Soil 265, 197–209.

Defra, 2009. Safeguarding our Soils - A Strategy for England. p. 48.

- Deneŕ, K., Archibeque, S., Paustian, K., 2011. Greenhouse Gas Emissions from U.S. Agriculture and Forestry: A Review of Emission Sources, Controlling Factors, and Mitigation Potential. (Interim report to USDA under Contract #GS23F8182H. http://www.usda. gov/oce/climate_change/techguide/Denef_et_al_2011_Review_of_reviews_v1.0.pdf accessed June 2016).
- Devine, S., Markewitz, D., Hendrix, P., Coleman, D., 2014. Soil aggregates and associated organic matter under conventional tillage, no-tillage, and forest succession after three decades. PLoS One 9 (1), e84988.
- Dick, W.A., Blevins, R.L., Frye, W.W., Peters, S.E., Christenson, D.R., Pierce, F.J., Vitosh, M.L., 1998. Impacts of agricultural management practices on C sequestration in forest-derived soils of the Eastern Corn Belt. Soil Tillage Res. 47, 235–244.
- Dimassi, B., Mary, B., Wylleman, R., Labreuche, J., Couture, D., Piraux, F., Cohan, J.P., 2014. Long-term effect of contrasted tillage and crop management on soil carbon dynamics during 41 years. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 188, 134–146.
- Dlamini, P., Chivenge, P., Manson, A., Chaplot, V., 2014. Land degradation impact on soil organic carbon and nitrogen stocks. Geoderma 235, 372–381.
- Doetterl, S., Stevens, A., Six, J., Merckx, R., Van Oost, K., Pinto, M.C., Casanova-Katny, A., Muñoz, C., Boudin, M., Venegas, E.Z., Boeckx, P., 2015. Soil carbon storage controlled by interactions between geochemistry and climate. Nat. Geosci. 8, 780–783.
- Du, Z., Angers, D.A., Ren, T., Zhang, Q., Li, C., 2017. The effect of no-till on organic C storage in Chinese soils should not be overemphasized: a meta-analysis. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 236, 1–11.
- Dube, F., Thevathasan, N.V., Zagal, E., Gordon, A.M., Stolpe, N.B., Espinosa, M., 2011. Carbon sequestration potential of silvopastoral and other land use systems in the Chilean Patagonia. Carbon Sequestration Potential of Agroforestry Systems. Springer, The Netherlands, pp. 101–127.
- Duffy, P., Hanley, E., Black, K., O'Brien, P., Hyde, B., Ponzi, J., Alam, S., 2015. Ireland's National Inventory Report 2015. Greenhouse Gas Emissions 1990–2013 Reported to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. Environmental Protection Agency, PO Box 3000, Johnstown Castle, Co. Wexford, Ireland (Available: http://coe.epa.ie/ghg/data/inventories/2015/IE_2015_NIR2.pdf [Accessed 1st March 2016]).
- Eaton, J.M., McGoff, N.M., Byrne, K.A., Leahy, P., Kiely, G., 2008. Land cover change and soil organic C stocks in the Republic of Ireland 1851–2000. Clim. Chang. 91, 317–334.

- Echeverría, C., Coomes, D., Salas, J., Rey-Benayas, J.M., Lara, A., Newton, A., 2006. Rapid deforestation and fragmentation of Chilean temperate forests. Biol. Conserv. 130, 481–494.
- Environment Canada, 2015. National Inventory Report, 1990–2013: Greenhouse Gas Sources and Sinks in Canada (Available from: ec.gc.ca/ges-ghg/default.asp?lang = En&n = 83A34A7A-1).
- Ewing, S.A., Macalady, J.L., Warren-Rhodes, K., McKay, C.P., Amundson, R., 2008. Changes in the soil C cycle at the arid-hyperarid transition in the Atacama Desert. J. Geophys. Res. Biogeosci. 113 (G2).
- FAO, 2004. Carbon sequestration in dryland soils. World Soil Resources Reports 102. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Rome.
- FAO, 2013. Climate-Smart Agriculture Sourcebook. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome.
- Falloon, P., Jones, C.D., Cerri, C.E., Al-Adamat, R., Kamoni, P., Bhattacharyya, T., Easter, M., Paustian, K., Killian, K., Coleman, K., Milne, E., 2007. Climate change and its impact on soil and vegetation carbon storage in Kenya, Jordan, India and Brazil. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 122, 114–124.
- Fiantis, D., Nelson, M., Shamshuddin, J., Goh, T.B., Van Ranst, E., 2016. Initial carbon storage in new Tephra layers of Mt. Talang in Sumatra as affected by pioneer plants. Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal. 47, 1792–1812.
- Follett, R., Kimble, J.M., Lal, R. (Eds.), 2001. The Potential of US Grazing Lands to Sequester Carbon and Mitigate the Greenhouse Effect. CRC/Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, FL.
- Franzluebbers, A.J., 2005. Soil organic carbon sequestration and agricultural greenhouse gas emissions in the southeastern USA. Soil Tillage Res. 83, 120–147.
- Franzluebbers, A.J., 2010. Achieving soil organic carbon sequestration with conservation agricultural systems in the southeastern United States. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 74, 347–357.
- Gibbs, H.K., Johnston, M., Foley, J.A., Holloway, T., Monfreda, C., Ramankutty, N., Zaks, D., 2008. Carbon payback times for crop-based biofuel expansion in the tropics: the effects of changing yield and technology. Environ. Res. Lett. 3, 034001.
- Gimona, A., Poggio, L., Polhill, J.G., Castellazzi, M., 2015. Habitat networks and food security: promoting species range shift under climate change depends on life history and the dynamics of land use choices. Landsc. Ecol. 30, 771–789.
- Goulding, K.W.T., Poulton, P.R., 2005. The missing link. Geoscientist 15, 4-7.
- Goidts, E., van Wesemael, B., 2007. Regional assessment of the changes in soil organic carbon stocks of agricultural soils in southern Belgium between 1955 and 2005. Geoderma 141, 341–354.
- Gregory, A.S., Kirk, G.J.D., Keay, C.A., Rawlins, B.G., Wallace, P., Whitmore, A.P., 2014. An assessment of subsoil organic carbon stocks in England and Wales. Soil Use Manag. 30, 10–22.
- Global Fire Emissions Database. 2016. (http://www.globalfiredata.org/).
- Hamilton, G., Sheppard, J., Bowey, R., Fisher, P., 2016. Blade loosening creates a deeper and near-stable rooting zone that raises the productivity of a structurally unstable texture contrast soil. Soil Res. http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/SR15364.
- Hassink, J., 1997. The capacity of soils to preserve organic C and N by their association with clay and silt particles. Plant Soil 191, 77–87.
- He, Y., Trumbore, S.E., Torn, M.S., Harden, J.W., Vaughn, L.J., Allison, S.D., Randerson, J.T., 2016. Radiocarbon constraints imply reduced carbon uptake by soils during the 21st century. Science 353, 1419–1424.
- Henaka Arachchi, M.P.N.K., Field, D.J., McBratney, A.B., 2016. Quantification of soil carbon from bulk soil samples to predict the aggregate-carbon fractions within using nearand mid-infrared spectroscopic techniques. Geoderma 267, 207–214.
- Hong, S.Y., Minasny, B., Zhang, Y.S., Kim, Y.H., Jung, K.H., 2010. Digital Soil Mapping Using Legacy Soil Data in Korea. 19th World Congress of Soil Science, Soil Solutions for a Changing World, 1 –6 August 2010, Brisbane, Australia.
- Hooijer, A., Page, S., Navratil, P., Vernimmen, R., Van der Vat, M., Tansey, K., Konecny, K., Siegert, F., Ballhorn, U., Mawdsley, N., 2014. Carbon emissions from drained and degraded peatland in Indonesia and emission factors for measurement, reporting and verification (MRV) of peatland greenhouse gas emissions. A Summary of KFCP Research Results for Practitioners. IAFCP, Indonesia, Jakarta.
- House of Commons Environmental Audit Committee, 2016. Soil health. First Report of Session:pp. 2016–2017 (http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201617/ cmselect/cmenvaud/180/180.pdf).
- Hoyle, F.C., D'Antuono, M., Overheu, T., Murphy, D.V., 2013. Capacity for increasing soil organic carbon stocks in dryland agricultural systems. Soil Res. 51, 657–667.
- IPCC, 2006. Agriculture, forestry and other land use. IPCC guidelines for national greenhouse gas inventories. In: Eggleston, H.S., Buendia, L., Miwa, K., Ngara, T., Tanabe, K. (Eds.), Institute for Global Environmental Strategies (Prepared by the National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programme, Hayama).
- Ilesanmi, O.O., 1971. An empirical formulation of an OTD rainfall model for the tropics: a case study of Nigeria. J. Appl. Meteorol. 10, 882–891.
- Janik, LJ., Skjemstad, J.O., Shepherd, K.D., Spouncer, L.R., 2007. The prediction of soil carbon fractions using mid-infrared-partial least square analysis. Soil Res. 45, 73–81.
- Jauhiainen, J., Hooijer, A., Page, S.E., 2012. Carbon dioxide emissions from an Acacia plantation on peatland in Sumatra, Indonesia. Biogeosciences 9, 617–630.
- Jien, S.H., Hseu, Z.Y., Guo, H.Y., Tsai, C.C., Chen, Z.S., 2010. In: Chen, Z.S., Agus, F. (Eds.), Organic Carbon Storage and Management Strategies of the Rural Soils on the Basis of Soil Information System in Taiwan. Proceedings of International Workshop on Evaluation and Sustainable Management of Soil Carbon Sequestration in Asian Countries. Bogor, Indonesia, Sep 28–29, 2010, pp. 125–137.
- Jin, L, Li, Y., Gao, Q., Liu, Y., Wan, Y., Qin, X., Shi, F., 2008. Estimate of carbon sequestration under cropland management in China. Sci. Agric. Sin. 41, 734–743 (in Chinese with English summary).
- Jo, I.S., Koh, M.H., 2004. Chemical changes in agricultural soils of Korea: data review and suggested countermeasures. Environ. Geochem. Health 26, 105–117.

- Johnson, J.M.F., Reicosky, D.C., Allmaras, R.R., Sauer, T.J., Venterea, R.T., Dell, C.J., 2005. Greenhouse gas contributions and mitigation potential of agriculture in the central USA. Soil Tillage Res. 83, 73–94.
- JNCC, Joint Nature Conservation Committee, 2011. Report No. 445: Towards an Assessment of the State of UK Peatlands. (Available at: http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/pdf/ jncc445_web.pdf).
- Kerry, R., Goovaerts, P., Rawlins, B.G., Marchant, B.P., 2012. Disaggregation of legacy soil data using area to point kriging for mapping soil organic carbon at the regional scale. Geoderma 170, 347–358.
- Khalil, M.I., Kiely, G., O'Brien, P., Müller, C., 2013. Organic carbon stocks in agricultural soils in Ireland using combined empirical GIS approaches. Geoderma 193–194, 222–235.
- Khasanah, N.M., van Noordwijk, M., Ningsih, H., Rahayu, S., 2015. Carbon neutral? No change in mineral soil carbon stock under oil palm plantations derived from forest or non-forest in Indonesia. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 211, 195–206.
- Kiely, G., McGoff, N.M., Eaton, J., Leahy, P., 2010. Soil C Measurement and Modelling of Soil Carbon Stocks and Stock Changes in Irish Soils. Strive Report (2005-S-MS-26-M1). Environmental Protection Agency, Johnstown Castle, Co. Wexford, Ireland (Available: https://www.ucc.ie/en/media/research/hydromet/EPAkielyReportSoilC. 2009.pdf [Accessed 1st March 2016]).
- Lal, R., 2003. Global potential of soil carbon sequestration to mitigate the greenhouse effect. Crit. Rev. Plant Sci. 22, 151–184.
- Lal, R., 2004. Soil carbon sequestration impacts on global climate change and food security. Science 304, 1623–1627.
- Lal, R., 2016. Beyond COP 21: potential and challenges of the "4 per Thousand" initiative. J. Soil Water Conserv. 71, 20A–25A.
- Lal, R., Negassa, W., Lorenz, K., 2015. Carbon sequestration in soil. Curr. Opin. Environ. Sustain. 15:79–86. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2015.09.002.
- Lal, R., Kimble, J.M., Follett, R., Cole, C.V., 1998. The Potential of US Cropland to Sequester Carbon and Mitigate the Greenhouse Effect. Sleeping Bear Press, Chelsea, MI.
- Lam, S.K., Chen, D., Mosier, A.R., Roush, R., 2013. The potential for carbon sequestration in Australian agricultural soils is technically and economically limited. Sci. Report. 3 (Article number: 2179).
- Lambert, M.G., Trustrum, N.A., Costall, D.A., 1984. Effect of soil slip erosion on seasonally dry Wairarapa hill pastures. N. Z. J. Agric. Res. 27, 57–64.
- Lee, C.H., Jung, K.Y., Kang, S.S., Kim, M.S., Kim, Y.H., Kim, P.J., 2013. Effect of long term fertilization on soil carbon and nitrogen pools in paddy soil. Korean J. Soil Sci. Fert. 46, 216–222.
- Lettens, S., Van Orshoven, J., van Wesemael, B., Muys, B., Perrin, D., 2005. Soil organic carbon changes in landscape units of Belgium between 1960 and 2000 with reference to 1990. Glob. Chang. Biol. 11, 2128–2140.
- Leuschner, C., Moser, G., Hertel, D., Erasmi, S., Leitner, D., Culmsee, H., Schuldt, B., Schwendenmann, L., 2013. Conversion of tropical moist forest into cacao agroforest: consequences for carbon pools and annual C sequestration. Agrofor. Syst. 87, 1173–1187.
- Lilly, A., Baggaley, N.J., 2013. The potential for Scottish cultivated topsoils to lose or gain soil organic carbon. Soil Use Manag. 29, 39–47.
- Lin, Y.R., Cheng, C.H., Tseng, T.Y., 2011a. Carbon sequestration potential of afforestation in the plain areas in Taiwan: examples from long-term abandoned orchards and afforested sites. Q. J. Chin. For. 44 (4), 567–588 (In Chinese).
- Lin, Y.R., Cheng, C.H., Tseng, T.Y., Wang, S.L., Guo, H.Y., 2011b. Soil properties and organic carbon sequestration in the long-term afforestation stands of plain areas. Taiwanese J. Agric. Chem. Food Sci. 49 (5), 260–274 (In Chinese).
- Little, C., Lara, A., McPhee, J., Urrutia, R., 2009. Revealing the impact of forest exotic plantations on water yield in large scale watersheds in South-Central Chile. J. Hydrol. 374, 162–170.
- Llewellyn, R.S., D'Emden, F.H., 2009. Adoption of no-till cropping practices in Australian grain growing regions. Grains Research and Development Corporation and CSIRO, Australia.
- Loveland, P., Webb, J., 2003. Is there a critical level of organic matter in the agricultural soils of temperate regions: a review. Soil Tillage Res. 70, 1–18.
- Lu, F., Wang, X., Han, B., Ouyang, Z., Duan, X., Zheng, H.U.A., Miao, H., 2009. Soil carbon sequestrations by nitrogen fertilizer application, straw return and no-tillage in China's cropland. Glob. Chang. Biol. 15, 281–305.
- Luo, Z., Wang, E., Sun, O.J., 2010. Soil carbon change and its responses to agricultural practices in Australian agro-ecosystems: a review and synthesis. Geoderma 155, 211–223.
- Maji, A.K., Obi Reddy, G.P., Sarkar, D., 2010. Degraded and Wastelands of India Status and Spatial Distribution. Indian Council of Agricultural Research, New Delhi.
- Majumder, B., Mandal, B., Bandyopadhyay, P.K., Gangopadhyay, A., Mani, P.K., Kundu, A.L., Mazumdar, D., 2008. Organic amendments influence soil organic carbon pools and rice-wheat productivity. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 72, 775–785.
- Mandal, B., 2011. The 29th Professor JN Mukherjee-ISSS Foundation lecture-soil organic carbon research in India—a way forward. J. Indian Soc. Soil Sci. 59, S9.
- Mandal, B., Majumder, B., Bandyopadhyay, P.K., Hazra, G.C., Gangopadhyay, A., Samantaray, R.N., Mishra, A.K., Chaudhury, J., Saha, M.N., Kundu, S., 2007. The potential of cropping systems and soil amendments for carbon sequestration in soils under long-term experiments in subtropical India. Glob. Chang. Biol. 13, 357–369.
- Mandal, B., Majumder, B., Adhya, T.K., Bandyopadhyay, P.K., Gangopadhyay, A., Sarkar, D., Kundu, M.C., Choudhury, S.G., Hazra, G.C., Kundu, S., Samantaray, R.N., Misra, A.K., 2008. Potential of double-cropped rice ecology to conserve organic carbon under subtropical climate. Glob. Chang. Biol. 14, 2139–2151.
- Mangalassery, S., Sjögersten, Sparkes, D.L., Sturrock, C.J., Craigon, J., Mooney, S.J., 2014. To what extent can zero tillage lead to a reduction in greenhouse gas emissions from temperate soils? Sci. Report. 4, 4586.
- Marín-Spiotta, E., Sharma, S., 2013. Carbon storage in successional and plantation forest soils: a tropical analysis. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 22, 105–117.

- Martínez, E., Fuentes, J.P., Pino, V., Silva, P., Acevedo, E., 2013. Chemical and biological properties as affected by no-tillage and conventional tillage systems in an irrigated Haploxeroll of Central Chile. Soil Tillage Res. 126, 238–245.
- McBratney, A., Koppi, T., Field, D.J., 2016. Radical soil management for Australia: a rejuvenation process. Geoderma Reg. 7, 132–136.
- McBratney, A.B., Pringle, M.J., 1999. Estimating average and proportional variograms of soil properties and their potential use in precision agriculture. Precis. Agric. 1, 125–152.
- McCulloch, R.D., Davies, S.J., 2001. Late-glacial and Holocene palaeoenvironmental change in the central Strait of Magellan, southern Patagonia. Palaeogeogr. Palaeocclimatol. Palaeoecol. 173, 143–173.
- McDaniel, M.D., Tiemann, L.K., Grandy, A.S., 2014. Does agricultural crop diversity enhance soil microbial biomass and organic matter dynamics? A meta-analysis. Ecol. Appl. 24 (3), 560–570.
- Mchunu, C., Manson, A., Jewitt, G., Lorentz, S., Chaplot, V., 2011. No-till impact on soil and soil organic carbon erosion under crop residues scarcity in South Africa. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 75 (4), 1503–1512.
- Meersmans, J., van Wesemael, B., Goidts, E., De Ridder, F., De Baets, S., Van Molle, M., 2011. Spatial analysis of soil organic carbon evolution in Belgian croplands and grasslands, 1960–2006. Glob. Chang. Biol. 17, 466–479.
- Meersmans, J., Arrouays, D., Van Rompaey, A.J.J., Page, C., De Baets, S., Quine, T.A., 2016. Future C loss in mid-latitude mineral soils: climate change exceeds land use mitigation potential in France. Sci. Report. 6:35798. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/srep35798.
- Meinshausen, M., Meinshausen, N., Hare, W., Raper, S.C., Frieler, K., Knutti, R., Frame, D.J., Allen, M.R., 2009. Greenhouse-gas emission targets for limiting global warming to 2 C. Nature 458, 1158–1162.
- Métay, A., Mary, B., Arrouays, D., Martin, M.P., Nicolardot, B., Germon, J.C., 2009. Effets des techniques culturales sans labour (TCSL) sur le stockage de carbone dans le sol en contexte climatique tempéré. Can. J. Soil Sci. 89 (5), 623–634.
- Metting, F.B., Smith, J.L., Amthor, J.S., Izaurralde, R.C., 2001. Science needs and new technology for increasing soil carbon sequestration. In Storing Carbon in Agricultural Soils: A Multi-Purpose Environmental Strategy. Springer, Netherlands, pp. 11–34.
- Milne, R., Brown, T.A., 1997. Carbon in the vegetation and soils on Great Britain. J. Environ. Manag. 49, 413–433.
- Minasny, B., Sulaeman, Y., McBratney, A.B., 2011. Is soil carbon disappearing? The dynamics of soil organic carbon in Java. Glob. Chang. Biol. 17, 1917–1924.
- Minasny, B., McBratney, A.B., Hong, S.Y., Sulaeman, Y., Kim, M.S., Zhang, Y.S., Kim, Y.H., Han, K.H., 2012. Continuous rice cropping has been sequestering carbon in soils in Java and South Korea for the past 30 years. Glob. Biogeochem. Cycles 26, GB3027. http://dx.doi.org/10.1029/2012GB004406.
- Minasny, B., Hong, S.Y., Hartemink, A.E., Kim, Y.H., Kang, S.S., 2016. Soil pH increase under paddy in South Korea between 2000 and 2012. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 221, 205–213.
- Ministry of Agriculture of China, Reform and Development Commission of China, Ministry of Science and Technology of China, Ministry of Financing of China, Ministry of Land Resource and Territory of China, Ministry of Environment Protection, Ministry of Water Resources of China and National Bureau of Forestry of China, 2015C. A national plan of sustainable agriculture 2015–2030. Policy Report of Agricultural Panning No. 145 (http://www.mof.gov.cn/mofhome/mof/zhengwuxinxi/zhengcefabu/201505/ t20150528_1242763.htm, accessed 2016-07-28. Accessed 2016-07-28. In Chinese).
- Ministry of Agriculture of China and Ministry of Financing of China (MoAC & MFC), 2016g. A National Demonstration Project of Comprehensive Utilization of Crop straw to Improve Cropland Quality. (Released 2016-05-30.Accessed via http://www.moa.gov. cn/govpublic/CWS/201605/t20160530_5154758.htm. In Chinese).
- Ministry of Agriculture of China (MOA), National Development and Reform Commission of China (NDRC), 2009e. The Conservation Tillage Engineering Construction Plans of China. (Available at: http://www.moa.gov.cn/zwllm/zcfg/nybgz/200908/ t20090828_1340481.htm; accessed 01/02/2012).
- Ministry of Agriculture of China (MOA), 2009. All the County-Level Region in China was Covered by Recommended Fertilization Operation Until 2008. (Available at: http:// www.moa.gov.cn/ztzl/ctpfsf/gzdt/200910/t20091009_1361972.htm; accessed 01/ 02/2012).
- Ministry of Agriculture of China (MOA), 2010. Work Program of Popularization Operation of Recommended Fertilization in 2010. (Available at: http://www.moa.gov.cn/ztzl/ ctpfsf/gzdt/201002/ t20100221_1433222.htm; accessed 01/02/2012).
- Ministry of Agriculture of China (MOA), 2011. Work Program of Popularization Operation of Recommended Fertilization in 2011. (Available at: http://www.moa.gov.cn/ zwllm/tzgg/tz/201103/ t20110310_1869341.htm; accessed 01/02/20120).
- Montes, C.R., Lucas, Y., Pereira, O.J.R., Achard, R., Grimaldi, M., Melfi, A.J., 2011. Deep plantderived carbon storage in Amazonian podzols. Biogeosciences 8, 113–120.
- Morris, S.J., Bohm, S., Haile-Mariam, S., Paul, E.A., 2007. Evaluation of carbon accrual in afforested agricultural soils. Glob. Chang. Biol. 13, 1145–1156.
- Mulder, V.L., Lacoste, M., Martin, M.P., Richer-de-Forges, A., Arrouays, D., 2015. Understanding large-extent controls of soil organic carbon storage in relation to soil depth and soil-landscape systems. Glob. Biogeochem. Cycles 29. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1002/2015gb005178.
- Mulder, V.L., Lacoste, M., Richer de Forges, A.C., Martin, M.P., Arrouays, D., 2016. National versus global modelling the 3D distribution of soil organic carbon in mainland France. Geoderma 263, 13–34.
- Munishi, P.K., Shear, T., 2004. Carbon storage in afromontane rainforests of the Eastern Arc Mountain of Tanzania: their net contribution to atmospheric carbon. J. Trop. For. Sci. 16, 78–93.
- Murphy, B.W., 2015. Impact of soil organic matter on soil properties—a review with emphasis on Australian soils. Soil Res. 53, 605–635.
- Nahuelhual, L., Carmona, A., Lara, A., Echeverría, C., González, M.E., 2012. Land-cover change to forest plantations: proximate causes and implications for the landscape in south-central Chile. Landsc. Urban Plan. 107, 12–20.

- New Zealand Ministry for the Environment, 2015. New Zealand's greenhouse gas inventory 1990–2013. Submitted to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change 10th April 2015. Ministry for the Environment Manatū Mö Te Taiao, PO Box 10-362, Wellington, New Zealand (ISSN: 1179-223X (electronic) Publication number: ME 1195. www.mfe.govt.nz/publications/climate-change/new-zealandsgreenhouse-gas-inventory-1990-2013).
- New Zealand Agricultural Greenhouse Gas Research Centre, 2016. Soil Organic Carbon Stocks Model for New Zealand, Developed by Stephen McNeill, Landcare Research -Manaaki Whenua, Under Contract to NZAGRC. (Access by permission from the New Zealand Agricultural Greenhouse Gas Research Centre via http://www.nzagrc. org.nz/).
- NIR, National Inventory Report, 2016. Belgium's greenhouse gas inventory (1990–2014). National Inventory Report submitted under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. VMM, VITO, AWAC, IBGE, IRCEL, ECONOTEC, Brussels (360 pp. http://www.klimaat.be/files/5414/6116/1810/BELGIUM_NIR_2016_120416.pdf).
- Ogle, S.M., Breidt, F.J., Paustian, K., 2005. Agricultural management impacts on soil organic carbon storage under moist and dry climatic conditions of temperate and tropical regions. Biogeochemistry 72, 87–121.
- OLCA, Observatorio Latinoamericano de Conflictos Ambientales, 2003l. La invasión de las plantaciones forestales en Chile: Efectos de la actividad forestal en la población indígena mapuche.
- Orton, T.G., Saby, N.P.A., Arrouays, D., Walter, C., Lemercier, B., Schvartz, C., Lark, R.M., 2012a. Spatial prediction of soil organic carbon from data on large and variable spatial supports. I. Inventory and mapping. Environmetrics 23, 129–147.
- O'Reilly, G., O'Brien, P., McGovern, F., 2012. Addressing Climate Change Challenges in Ireland. CCRP Report (07-CCRP-3.1). Environmental Protection Agency, Wexford, Ireland (Available: http://www.epa.ie/pubs/reports/research/climate/Addressing% 20Climate%20Change%20C hallenges%20in%20Ireland.pdf [Accessed: 1st March 2016]).
- Padarian, J., Minasny, B., McBratney, A.B., 2016. Chile and the Chilean soil grid: a contribution to GlobalSoilMap. Geoderma Reg. (In Press).
- Paetsch, L., Mueller, C.W., Rumpel, C., Houot, S., Kögel-Knabner, I., 2016. Urban waste composts enhance OC and N stocks after long-term amendment but do not alter organic matter composition. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 223, 211–222.
- Page, S.E., Rieley, J.O., Banks, C., 2010a. Global and regional importance of tropical peatland carbon pool. Glob. Chang. Biol. 17, 798–818.
- Page, S.E., Wüst, R., Banks, C., 2010b. Past and present carbon accumulation and loss in Southeast Asian peatlands. PAGES News 18, 25–26.
- Page, S.E., Siegert, F., Rieley, J.O., Boehm, H.D.V., Jaya, A., Limin, S., 2002. The amount of carbon released from peat and forest fires in Indonesia during 1997. Nature 420 (6911), 61–65.
- Palm, C., Blanco-Canqui, H., DeClerck, F., Gatere, L., Grace, P., 2014. Conservation agriculture and ecosystem services: an overview. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 187, 87–105.
- Pan, G.X., Xu, X.W., Smith, P., Pan, W.N., Lal, R., 2010. An increase in topsoil SOC stock of China's cropland between 1985 and 2006 revealed by soil monitoring. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 136, 133–138.
- Pan, G., Li, L.Q., Zheng, J.F., Cheng, K., Zhang, X.H., Zheng, J.W., Li, Z.C., 2014. Benefits of SOM in agro-ecosystems: the Case of China. (Chap 27). In: Banwart, S. (Ed.), Soil Carbon: Science, Management and Policy for Multiple Benefits, SCOPE Volume 71 2014. CAB International, pp. 383–401.
- Pathak, H., Byjesh, K., Chakrabarti, B., Aggarwal, P.K., 2011. Potential and cost of carbon sequestration in Indian agriculture: estimates from long-term field experiments. Field Crop Res. 120, 102–111.
- Paustian, K., Andrén, O., Janzen, H.H., Lal, R., Smith, P., Tian, G., Tiessen, H., Noordwijk, M.V., Woomer, P.L., 1997. Agricultural soils as a sink to mitigate CO₂ emissions. Soil Use Manag, 13, 230–244.
- Paustian, K., Lehmann, J., Ogle, S., Reay, D., Robertson, G.P., Smith, P., 2016. Climate-smart soils. Nature 532, 49–57.
- Paustian, K., Six, J., Elliott, E.T., Hunt, H.W., 2000. Management options for reducing CO₂ emissions from agricultural soils. Biogeochemistry 48, 147–163.
- Parfitt, R.L., Stevenson, B.A., Ross, C., Fraser, S., 2014. Changes in pH, bicarbonate-extractable-P, carbon and nitrogen in soils under pasture over 7 to 27 years. N. Z. J. Agric. Res. 57, 216–227.
- Percival, H.J., Parfitt, R.L., Scott, N.A., 2000. Factors controlling soil carbon levels in New Zealand grasslands: is clay content important? Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 64, 1623–1630.
- Piccoli, I., Chiarini, F., Carletti, P., Furlan, L., Lazzaro, B., Nardi, S., Berti, A., Sartori, L., Dalconi, M.C., Morari, F., 2016. Disentangling the effects of conservation agriculture practices on the vertical distribution of soil organic carbon. evidence of poor carbon sequestration in North-Eastern Italy. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 230, 68–78.
- Poggio, L., Gimona, A., 2014. National scale 3D modelling of soil organic carbon stocks with uncertainty propagation - an example from Scotland. Geoderma 232–234, 284–299.
- Poulton, P.R., Pye, E., Hargreaves, P.R., Jenkinson, D.S., 2003. Accumulation of carbon and nitrogen by old arable land reverting to woodland. Glob. Chang. Biol. 9, 942–955.
- Powlson, D.S., Whitmore, A.P., Goulding, K.W., 2011. Soil carbon sequestration to mitigate climate change: a critical re-examination to identify the true and the false. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 62, 42–55.
- Powlson, D.S., Bhogal, A., Chambers, B.J., Coleman, K., Macdonald, A.J., Goulding, K.W.T., Whitmore, A.P., 2012. The potential to increase soil carbon stocks through reduced tillage or organic material additions in England and Wales: a case study. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 146, 23–33.
- Powlson, D.S., Stirling, C.M., Jat, M.L., Gerard, B.G., Palm, C.A., Sanchez, P.A., Cassman, K.G., 2014. Limited potential of no-till agriculture for climate change mitigation. Nat. Clim. Chang. 4, 678–683.
- Powlson, D., Johnston, J., 2015. Potential soil organic matter benefits from mixed farming: evidence from long-term experiments. From Sustainable Food Trust Meeting: What

Role for Grazing (Feb 2015. http://www.slideshare.net/Sustainablefoodtrust/david-powlson last accessed March 2016).

- Rai, M., Acharya, S.S., Virmani, S.M., Aggarwal, P.K. (Eds.), 2009. State of Indian Agriculture. NAAS Publ., New Delhi.
- Rasse, D.P., Rumpel, C., Dignac, M.F., 2005. Is soil carbon mostly root carbon? Mechanisms for a specific stabilisation. Plant Soil 269, 341–356.
- Raji, B.A., Ogunwole, J.O., 2006. Potential of soil carbon sequestration under various land use in the sub-humid and semi-arid savanna of Nigeria: lessons from long-term experiments. Int. J. Soil Sci. 1 (1), 33–43.
- Reynolds, B., Chamberlain, P.M., Poskitt, J., Woods, C., Scott, W.A., Rowe, E.C., Robinson, D.A., Frogbrook, Z.L., Keith, A.M., Henrys, P.A., Black, H.I.J., Emmett, B.A., 2013. Countryside survey: National "soil change" 1978–2007 for topsoils in Great Britain—acidity, carbon, and total nitrogen status. Vadose Zone J. 12, 2.
- Rosenberg, N.J., Izaurralde, R.C., 2001. Storing carbon in agricultural soils to help head-off a global warming. Storing Carbon in Agricultural Soils: A Multi-Purpose Environmental Strategy. Springer, Netherlands, pp. 1–10.
- Rudiyanto, M.B., Setiawan, B.I., 2016. Further results on comparison of methods for quantifying soil carbon in tropical peats. Geoderma 269, 108–111.
- Rumpel, C., Kögel-Knabner, I., 2011. Deep soil organic matter—a key but poorly understood component of terrestrial C cycle. Plant Soil 338, 143–158.
- Saby, N.P.A., Arrouays, D., Antoni, V., Foucaud-lemercier, B., Follain, S., Walter, C., Schvartz, C., 2008. Changes in soil organic carbon content in a French mountainous region, 1990–2004. Soil Use Manag. 24, 254–262.
- Sanderman, J., Farquharson, R., Baldock, J., 2010. Soil carbon sequestration potential: a review for Australian agriculture. A report prepared for the Department of Climate Change and Energy Efficiency CSIRO National Research Flagships.
- Sanderman, J., Baldock, J.A., 2010. Accounting for soil carbon sequestration in national inventories: a soil scientist's perspective. Environ. Res. Lett. 5 (3), 034003.
- Savin, I., Sirotenko, O., Romanenkov, V., Shevtsova, L., 2002. Assessment of effect of agrotechnological factors on organic carbon balance in ploughed soils. In: Shishov, L., Voitovich, N. (Eds.), Soils of Moscow Region and Their Usage, pp. 324–335.
- Scharlemann, J.P., Tanner, E.V., Hiederer, R., Kapos, V., 2014. Global soil carbon: understanding and managing the largest terrestrial carbon pool. Cardiol. Manag. 5, 81–91.
- Schlatter, J., Gerding, V., 2001. Balance de carbono en suelos arenosos con plantaciones de Pinus radiata en Chile central. In Simposio Internacional Medición y Monitoreo de la Captura de Carbono en Ecosistemas Forestales. Consultado (Vol. 21).
- Schulte, R.P.O., Donnellan, T., Black, K.G., Crosson, P., Farrelly, N., Fealy, R.M., Finnan, J., Lanigan, G., O'Brien, D., O'Kiely, P., Shalloo, L., O'Mara, F., 2013. Carbon-neutrality as a horizon point for Irish agriculture. A qualitative appraisal of potential pathways to 2050. A Report by the Teagasc Working Group on Greenhouse Gas Emissions, Teagasc, Oak Park, Carlow, Ireland (Available: http://www.teagasc.ie/publications/ 2013/3002/CarbonNeutrality.pdf [Accessed 1st March 2016]).
- Schipper, L.A., Parfitt, R.L., Fraser, S., Littler, R.A., Baisden, W.T., Ross, C., 2014. Soil order and grazing management effects on changes in soil C and N in New Zealand pastures. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 184, 67–75.
- Schuman, G.E., Janzen, H.H., Herrick, J.E., 2002. Soil carbon dynamics and potential carbon sequestration by rangelands. Environ. Pollut. 116, 391–396.
- Sinclair, T.R., Horie, T., 1989. Leaf nitrogen, photosynthesis, and crop radiation use efficiency: a review. Crop Sci. 29, 90–98.
- Six, J., Conant, R., Paul, E.A., Paustian, K., 2002. Stabilization mechanisms of soil organic matter: implications for C-saturation of soils. Plant Soil 241, 155–176.
- S.I, 2008. The nitrate pollution prevention regulations, 2008. Statutory Instrument (2008/ 2349).
- Smiley, G., Kroschel, J., 2008. Temporal change in carbon stocks of cocoa-gliricidia agroforests in Central Sulawesi, Indonesia. Agrofor. Syst. 73, 219–231.
- Smith, J., Gottschalk, P., Bellarby, J., Chapman, S., Lilly, A., Towers, W., Bell, J., Coleman, K., Nayak, D., Richards, M., Hillier, J., Flynn, H., Wattenbach, M., Aitkenhead, M., Yeluripurti, J., Farmer, J., Milne, R., Thomson, A., Evans, C., Whitmore, A., Falloon, P., Smith, P., 2010. Estimating changes in Scottish soil carbon stocks using ECOSSE. II. Application. Clim. Res. 45, 193–205.
- Smith, P., Andrén, O., Karlsson, T., Perälä, P., Regina, K., Rounsevell, M., Van Wesemael, B.V., 2005. Carbon sequestration potential in European croplands has been overestimated. Glob. Chang. Biol. 11, 2153–2163.
- Smith, P., Martino, D., Cai, Z., Gwary, D., Janzen, H., Kumar, P., McCarl, B., Ogle, S., O'Mara, F., Rice, C., Scholes, B., 2008. Greenhouse gas mitigation in agriculture. Philos. Trans. R. Soc., B 363, 789–813.
- Sperow, M., Eve, M., Paustian, K., 2003. Potential soil C sequestration on US agricultural soils. Clim. Chang. 57, 319–339.
- Sperow, M., 2016. Estimating carbon sequestration potential on US agricultural topsoils. Soil Tillage Res. 155, 390–400.
- Song, G.H., Li, L.Q., Pan, G.X., 2005. Topsoil organic carbon storage of China and its loss by cultivation. Biogeochemistry 74, 47–62.
- Soussana, J.-F., Loiseau, P., Vuichard, N., Ceschia, E., Balesdent, J., Chevallier, T., Arrouays, D., 2004. Carbon cycling and sequestration opportunities in temperate grasslands. Soil Use Manag. 20, 219–230.
- Sreenivas, K., Dadhwal, V.K., Kumar, S., Harsha, G.S., Mitran, T., Sujatha, G., Suresh, G.J.R., Fyzee, M.A., Ravisankar, T., 2016. Digital mapping of soil organic and inorganic carbon status in India. Geoderma 269, 160–173.
- Stockmann, U., Padarian, J., McBratney, A., Minasny, B., de Brogniez, D., Montanarella, L., Hong, S.Y., Rawlins, B.G., Field, D.J., 2015. Global soil organic carbon assessment. Glob. Food Sec. 6, 9–16.
- Stolbovoi, V., 2003. Carbon in agricultural soils of Russia. In: Smith, C.A.S. (Ed.), Soil Organic Carbon and Agriculture: Developing Indicators for Policy Analyses. Proceedings of an OECD expert meeting, Ottawa Canada. Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, Ottawa and Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, Paris, pp. 301–307 (329 pp).

- Stolbovoy, V., Ivanov, A., 2014. Carbon balance in soils of Northern Eurasia. In: Hartemink, A.E., McSweeney, K. (Eds.), Soil Carbon, Progress in Soil Science. Springer, Switzerland:pp. 381–390 http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-04084-4_38.
- Sugiyanta, 2015. Rice straw management for food security support. Presentation at Soil Information to Support Sustainable Agriculture and Food Security in Indonesia. Australia Indonesia Center, P4W, Bogor (08 October 2015).
- Sun, W.J., Huang, Y., Zhang, W., Yu, Y.Q., 2010. Carbon sequestration and its potential in agricultural soils of China. Glob. Biogeochem. Cycles 24, 1302–1307.
- Swai, G., Ndangalasi, H.J., Munishi, P.K.T., Shirima, D.D., 2014. Carbon stocks of Hanang forest, Tanzania: an implication for climate mitigation. J. Ecol. Nat. Environ. 6, 90–98.
- Syswerda, S.P., Corbin, A.T., Mokma, D.L., Kravchenko, A.N., Robertson, G.P., 2011. Agricultural management and soil carbon storage in surface vs. deep layers. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. 1, 75, 92–101.
- Tarnocai, C., 1998. The amount of organic carbon in various soil orders and ecoprovinces in Canada. In: Lal, R., Kimble, J., Follett, R.F., Stewart, B.A. (Eds.), Soil Processes and the Carbon Cycle. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, pp. 81–92.
- Tomlinson, R.W., 2005. Soil carbon stocks and changes in the Republic of Ireland. J. Environ. Manag. 76, 77–93.
- Tsai, C.C., Chen, Z.S., Hseu, Z.Y., Duh, C.T., Guo, H.Y., 2010. In: Chen, Z.S., Agus, F. (Eds.), Organic Carbon Storage and Management Strategies of the Forest Soils on the Forest Soil Survey Database in Taiwan. Proceedings of International Workshop on Evaluation and Sustainable Management of Soil Carbon Sequestration in Asian Countries, pp. 85–102 (Bogor, Indonesia, Sep 28–29, 2010).
- Tsui, C.C., Tsai, C.C., Chen, Z.S., 2013. Soil organic carbon stocks in relation to elevation gradients in volcanic ash soils of Taiwan. Geoderma 209, 119–127.
- UKCC, UK Committee on Climate Change Adaptation Sub-committee, 2011t. How Well is Scotland Preparing for Climate Change? (Available at: http://www.theccc.org.uk/ reports/adaptation/asc-scotland)
- USEPA, 2015. Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2013. EPA Report 430-R-15-004. (564 p. Online at: https://www3.epa.gov/climatechange/ghgemissions/usinventoryreport/archive.html accessed June 2016).
- Vågen, T.-G., Winowiecki, L.a., 2013. Mapping of soil organic carbon stocks for spatially explicit assessments of climate change mitigation potential. Environ. Res. Lett. 8, 1–9.
- Van Noordwijk, M., Cerri, C., Woomer, P.L., Nugroho, K., Bernoux, M., 1997. Soil carbon dynamics in the humid tropical forest zone. Geoderma 79, 187–225.
- Van Noordwijk, M., Goverse, T., Ballabio, C., Banwart, S., Bhattacharyya, T., Goldhaber, M., Nikolaidis, N., Noellemeyer, E., Zhao, Y., 2014. Soil carbon transition curves: reversal of land degradation through management of soil organic matter for multiple benefits. Soil Carbon–Science, Management and Policy for Multiple Benefits.
- Van Straaten, O., Corre, M.D., Wolf, K., Tchienkoua, M., Cuellar, E., Matthews, R.B., Veldkamp, E., 2015. Conversion of lowland tropical forests to tree cash crop plantations loses up to one-half of stored soil organic carbon. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 112, 9956–9960.
- Van Wesemael, B., Paustian, K., Meersmans, J., Goidts, E., Barancikova, G., Easter, M., 2010. Agricultural management explains historic changes in regional SOC stocks. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 107, 14926–14930.
- VandenBygaart, A.J., Gregorich, E.G., Angers, D.A., 2003. Influence of agricultural management on soil organic carbon: a compendium and assessment of Canadian studies. Can. J. Soil Sci. 83, 363–380.
- VandenBygaart, A.J., Angers, D.A., 2006. Towards accurate measurements of soil organic carbon stock change in agroecosystems. Can. J. Soil Sci. 86, 465–471.
- VandenBygaart, A.J., McConkey, B.G., Angers, D.A., Smith, W., De Gooijer, H., Bentham, M., Martin, T., 2008. Soil carbon change factors for the Canadian agriculture national greenhouse gas inventory. Can. J. Soil Sci. 88, 671–680.
- Viscarra Rossel, R.A., Webster, R., Bui, E.N., Baldock, J.A., 2014. Baseline map of organic carbon in Australian soil to support national carbon accounting and monitoring under climate change. Glob. Chang. Biol. 20, 2953–2970.

- Wahyunto, D.A., Agus, F., 2010. In: Chen, Z.S., Agus, F. (Eds.), Distribution, Properties, and Carbon Stock of Indonesian Peatland. Proc. of Int. Workshop on Evaluation and Sustainable Management of Soil Carbon Sequestration in Asian Countries. Bogor, Indonesia Sept. 28–29, 2010, pp. 187–204 (ISRI-FFTC-NIAES, Bogor).
- Watson, C.J., Jordan, C., Kilpatrick, D., McCarney, B., Stewart, R., 2007. Impact of grazed grassland management on total N accumulation in soil receiving different levels of N input. Soil Use Manag. 23, 121–128.
 Wang, C.J., Pan, G.X., Tian, Y.G., 2009. Characteristics of cropland topsoil organic carbon
- Wang, C.J., Pan, G.X., Tian, Y.G., 2009. Characteristics of cropland topsoil organic carbon dynamics under different conservation tillage treatments based on long-term agroecosystem experiments across mainland China. J. Agro-Environ. Sci. 28, 2464–2475 (in Chinese).
- Wang, CJ., Pan, G.X., Tian, Y.G., Li, L.Q., Zhang, X.H., Han, X.J., 2010. Changes in cropland topsoil organic carbon with different fertilizations under long-term agro-ecosystem experiments across mainland China. Sci. China Life Sci. 53, 858–867.
- Wang, S., Huang, M., Shao, X., Mickler, R.A., Li, K., Ji, J., 2004. Vertical distribution of soil organic carbon in China. Environ. Manag. 33 (1), S200–S209.
- Wang, G., Huang, Y., Zhang, W., Yu, Y., Sun, W., 2015. Quantifying carbon input for targeted soil organic carbon sequestration in China's croplands. Plant Soil 394 (1-2), 57–71.
- Wei, W.S., Wang, C.H., Chen, C.L., Chung, R.S., 2015a. Accumulation and transformation of soil carbon and nitrogen under different fertilization managements and upland-lowland rotation for 13 years. Taiwanese J. Agric. Chem. Food Sci. 53, 9–21 (In Chinese).
- Wei, W.S., Tai, S.F., Chung, R.S., 2015b. Effects of three different fertilization managements on soil chemical properties and the accumulation and transformation of soil carbon and nitrogen under two different cropping systems for twenty years. Taiwanese J.Agric. Chem. Food Sci. 53, 43–54 (In Chinese).
- Wheeler, I., 2014. The auditability of soil carbon at the farm scale. PhD Thesis. The University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia.
- Whitmore, A.P., Kirk, G.J.D., Rawlins, B.G., 2015. Technologies for increasing carbon storage in soil to mitigate climate change. Soil Use Manag. 31, 62–71.
- Wilson, K., Newton, A., Echeverria, C., Weston, C., Burgman, M., 2005. A vulnerability analysis of the temperate forests of south central Chile. Biol. Conserv. 122, 9–21.
- Winowiecki, L., Vågen, T.-G., Huising, J., 2016a. Effects of land cover on ecosystem services in Tanzania: a spatial assessment of soil organic carbon. Geoderma 263, 274–283.
- Winowiecki, L., Vågen, T.-G., Massawe, B., Jelinski, N.A., Lyamchai, C., Sayula, G., Msoka, E., 2016b. Landscape-scale variability of soil health indicators: effects of cultivation on soil organic carbon in the Usambara Mountains of Tanzania. Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosyst. 105, 263–274.
- Xie, Z., Zhu, J., Liu, G., Cadisch, G., Hasegawa, T., Chen, C., Sun, H., Tang, H., Zeng, Q., 2007. Soil organic carbon stocks in China and changes from 1980s to 2000s. Glob. Chang. Biol. 13, 1989–2007.
- Xu, X., Liu, W., Zhang, C., Kiely, G., 2011. Estimation of soil organic carbon stock and its spatial distribution in the Republic of Ireland. Soil Use Manag. 27, 156–162.
- Yu, Z., Loisel, J., Brosseau, D.P., Beilman, D.W., Hunt, S.J., 2010. Global peatland dynamics since the Last Glacial Maximum. Geophys. Res. Lett. 37 (13).
- Yu, D., Shi, X., Wang, H., Sun, W., Warner, E.D., Liu, Q., 2007. National scale analysis of soil organic carbon storage in China based on Chinese soil taxonomy. Pedosphere 17, 11–18.
- Zhu, L., Li, J., Tao, B., Hu, N., 2015. Effect of different fertilization modes on soil organic carbon sequestration in paddy fields in South China: a meta-analysis. Ecol. Indic. 53, 144–153.
- Zuber, S.M., Villamil, M.B., 2016. Meta-analysis approach to assess effect of tillage on microbial biomass and enzyme activities. Soil Biol. Biochem. 97, 176–187.